Annual Meeting of the New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
March 24, 2021 at 7:30 PM
515 North Ave. – City Council Conference Room, New Rochelle, New York 10801
Via Microsoft Teams
Pursuant to Governor Cuomo's Executive Order 202.1, the meeting will take place remotely via Microsoft
Teams, there will be no in-person meeting. The Meeting will take place via Microsoft Teams and can be
viewed on NRTV Optimum Ch. 75, Verizon Ch. 28 and on line at www.newrochelleny.com/livestream

AGENDA
1. Roll Call/Announcements
2. Minutes
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3. PKF O’Connor Davies - Auditor Resolution

4. Presentation of Annual Financial Statements- O’Connor Davies
5. The Acceleration Project (TAP) – Contract

6. Circuit Assignment to the City of New Rochelle – Resolution

R

7. Crafted - Contract

D

8. Admin.
a. Annual Financial Statement/Report- Resolution
b. Adoption of PAAA Policies- Resolution
c. Appointment of Board Officers- Resolution
d. Appointment of Committee Members- Resolution
9. Other Business/Discussion Items
10. Next Meeting Date – April 28, 2021
11. Adjournment
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Minutes Summary of the Regular Meeting of the New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
(CLD) held on Wednesday, January 20, 2021 at 7:45PM, in Conference Call, City Hall, New
Rochelle, New York, taking place via Microsoft Teams. The following members of the Agency
were:
PRESENT:

Charles B. Strome, III, Chair
Ivar Hyden, Vice Chair
Robert Balachandran, Treasurer
Howard Greenberg, Secretary
Felim O’Malley, Member
Jordanna Davis, Member
Amy Moselhi, Member

ABSENT:
Kathleen Gill, Chief of Staff, Interim Commissioner of Development
Adam Salgado, CLD Executive Director, Dpty Commiss. for Econ. Dev.
Lisa Davis, Business Ambassador
Pat Malgieri, Esq., CLD Transaction Counsel, Harris Beach
Kevin Gremse, NDC, CLD Financial Consultant
Luiz Aragon, Economic Development Consultant
Roisin Ponkshe, Technical Consultant
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ALSO PRESENT:

CLD Meeting was called to order by the Chair, Mr. Strome.
Roll Call was taken.

Announcements: None.

Minutes: A motion was made by Mr. Hyden and seconded by Mr. Strome to approve the February Minutes;
and was unanimously approved.
RGP Consulting- Resolution
Mr. Salgado stated that the Resolution before the Board is to authorize entering into an agreement with
RGP Consulting for technical assistance consulting services for the IDA and CLD from January 15, 2021
through April 15, 2021. These services will support operations of the IDA and CLD during that period
and provide training for audit, annual reporting and other activities.
The proposal submitted is for a cost of $12,320, which is available in the 2021 Budget Consultant line
item.
A motion to approve was made by Mr. Strome and seconded by Mr. Hyden. All in favor, the motion
passed.
New Business/Discussion:
None.
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Next Meeting: Wednesday, February 24, 2021
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Adjournment: Mr. Strome made a motion to adjourn the meeting, seconded by Mr. Balachandran.
All in favor, the motion passed.
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Date: March 24, 2021
At a meeting of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the "Corporation")
held on March 24, 2021, at City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle, New York, the following
members of the Corporation were:
PRESENT:
ABSENT:
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ALSO PRESENT:
After the meeting had been duly called to order, the Chair announced that among the purposes of
the meeting was to consider and take action on certain matters pertaining to the appointment of an
audit firm.
The following resolution was duly moved by _________________, seconded
_____________________, discussed and adopted with the following members voting:
Voting Nay

D
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Voting Aye

by
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RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEW ROCHELLE CORPORATION FOR
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT (THE "CORPORATION") APPOINTING PKF
O’CONNOR DAVIES, LLP AS THE INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM TO THE CORPORATION FOR THE PURPOSE OF
PREPARING THE INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT OF THE
CORPORATION FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2020,
AND TO OTHERWISE PROVIDE THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, AS
DEFINED BELOW.
WHEREAS, the Corporation is a local development corporation organized for the benefit
of the City of New Rochelle, New York (the “City”) under §1411 of the New York Not-for-Profit
Corporation Law (“N-PCL”), and is a “local authority” under §2 of the New York Public
Authorities Law (the “PAL”); and
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WHEREAS, the Corporation is required by applicable law, including, without limitation,
the Public Authorities Accountability Act of 2005 (as amended, the "PAAA"), to retain a certified
public accounting firm to prepare an annual independent audit report in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards; and
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WHEREAS, the City of New Rochelle (the “City”) has reviewed the qualifications of PKF
O’Connor Davies, LLP, certified public accountants (the "Audit Firm"), and has engaged the Audit
Firm to prepare the annual independent audit report of the City and the City’s related units,
including, without limitation, the Corporation for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020, and
provide related services (collectively, the "Services") and has established the Audit Firm's
proposed compensation for the Services, which the Corporation’s share of such compensation
equal to $5,000 (the “Corporation Portion”); and
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WHEREAS, the Corporation has adopted its 2021 Annual Budget and included an amount
equal to $4,700 for the Services and will amend the Annual Budget to include the additional $300,
pursuant to these resolutions; and
WHEREAS, the Executive Director of the Corporation has recommended the Corporation
ratify and confirm the hiring of the Audit Firm to perform the Services and pay the Corporation
Portion; and
WHEREAS, the Audit Firm's lead (or coordinating) audit partner (having primary
responsibility for the audit) with respect to the Services and the audit partner having responsibility
to review the audit report, have not performed audit services for the Corporation in each of the last
five (5) fiscal years of the Corporation; and
WHEREAS, no officer or employee of the Corporation has been employed by the Audit
Firm during the one (1) year period preceding the adoption of this resolution; and
WHEREAS, the Corporation desires to accept the appointment of the Audit Firm to prepare
the Corporation's annual independent audit report for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020
and otherwise provide the Services; and
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WHEREAS, the payment to the Audit Firm of the Corporation Portion will initially be
made by the City and the Corporation will reimburse the City for such payment.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE CITY OF NEW
ROCHELLE CORPORATION FOR LOCAL DEVELOPMENT, AS FOLLOWS:
Section 1. The Corporation hereby ratifies and confirms all heretofore taken by the
Corporation's staff and the Comptroller of the Corporation in connection with procuring the
Services.
Section 2.
The Corporation hereby accepts the recommendations of the City and the
Executive Director of the Corporation (i) that the Audit Firm is qualified to perform the Services,
(ii) that no further interviews of the Audit Firm are required, and (iii) as to the terms of the
Corporation Portion for performing the Services.
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Section 3.
PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP is hereby appointed the independent certified
public accounting firm to the Corporation for the purpose of preparing the independent audit report
of the Corporation for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020, and to otherwise provide the
Services.
Section 4.
The Corporation hereby amends the Annual Budget to increase the original
appropriation of $4,700 to $5,000 and shall compensate the Audit Firm for Services in the amount
of the Corporation Portion of $5,000.
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Section 5.
The Audit Firm shall not perform any non-audit services for or on behalf of
the Corporation during the fiscal year ending December 31, 2021, unless approved in writing by
the Corporation.
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Section 6.
The Comptroller of the Corporation shall exercise direct oversight of the
Audit Firm in the performance of the Services.
Section 7.
The Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer, acting individually or
jointly, are hereby authorized and directed to negotiate and enter into a retainer agreement or
similar agreement with the Audit Firm for the Services (the "Agreement"), on such terms and
subject to such conditions as the Executive Director may deem advisable or necessary, subject to
the terms of this resolution and the recommendations of the Comptroller of the Corporation. The
Executive Director's or Chief Financial Officer's execution of the Agreement shall evidence the
Corporation's approval of the terms thereof.
Section 8.

This Resolution shall take effect immediately.
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER

)
) ss:
)

I, the undersigned, Secretary of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local
Development, DO HEREBY CERTIFY:
That I have compared the annexed extract of minutes of the meeting of the City of New
Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the "Corporation"), including the resolutions
contained therein, held on March 24, 2021, with the original thereof on file in my office, and that
the same is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Corporation and of such resolutions
set forth therein and of the whole of said original insofar as the same related to the subject matters
therein referred to.
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I FURTHER CERTIFY, that all members of said Corporation had due notice of said
meeting, that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the Public
Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), said meeting was open to the general public, and that public
notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly given in accordance with such Article 7.
I FURTHER CERTIFY, that there was a quorum of the members of the Corporation
present throughout said meeting.
I FURTHER CERTIFY, that as of the date hereof, the attached resolutions are in full force
and effect and have not been amended, repealed or modified.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of said
Corporation this ___ day of March, 2021.

Secretary
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle,
New York)

AF
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Financial Statements
and Supplementary Information
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Year Ended December 31, 2020
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
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Independent Auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors of the
City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local
Development (“CLD”), a discretely presented component unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York, as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the related notes to the financial statements which collectively
comprise the CLD’s financial statements as listed in the table of contents. The financial statements of the
CLD as of December 31, 2019, were audited by other auditors whose report dated March 19, 2020 expressed
an unmodified opinion on those statements.
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
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Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the CLD’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the CLD’s internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the CLD, as of December 31, 2020, and the respective changes in financial position and
cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.
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Emphasis of Matter
As discussed in Note 8 in the notes to financial statements, on March 11, 2020, the World Health
Organization declared a global pandemic as a result of the spread of COVID-19 (“Coronavirus”). Our opinion
is not modified with respect to this matter.
Other Matters
As part of our audit of the 2020 financial statements, we also audited the adjustment described in Note 7 that
was applied to restate the 2019 financial statements. In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and
have been properly applied. We were not engaged to audit, review or apply any procedures to the 2019
financial statements of the CLD other than with respect to the adjustment and accordingly, we do not express
an opinion or any other assurance on the 2019 financial statements as a form of whole.
Required Supplementary Information

Supplementary Information
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Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that Management’s
Discussion and Analysis be presented to supplement the financial statements. Such information, although not
a part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the financial
statements and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the financial statements. We do not express
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
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Out audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the CLD’s financial statements. The schedule of budget with actual operating amounts is presented
for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information has
not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and,
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report March XX, 2021 on our
consideration of the CLD’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that
report is to solely describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the CLD’s internal control
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards in considering the CLD’s internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP
Harrison, New York
March XX, 2021
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CITY OF NEW ROCHELLE CORPORATION FOR LOCAL DEVELOPMENT
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2020
The following is a discussion and analysis of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local
Development (“Corporation”) financial performance for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. The
section is a summary of the Corporation’s financial activities based on currently known facts, decisions,
or conditions. This section is only an introduction and should be read in conjunction with the
Corporation’s financial statements, which immediately follow this section.
Organization
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The City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development, Corporation for Local Development (the
Corporation) created in 2013 under Sections 402 and 1411 of the New York Not-for-Profit Corporation
Law for the purposes of relieving unemployment, bettering job opportunities and attracting or retaining
business in the City of New Rochelle. The Board of Directors (“Board”) of the Corporation consist of the
members of the Board of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency and are appointed by the
City of New Rochelle. As such, the Corporation board members have complete responsibility for
management of the Agency and accountability for all fiscal matters.
The Corporation is a separate entity and operates independently from the City of New Rochelle (“City”).
However, because the City appoints its board of directors, the Corporation is financially accountable
to the City and is also included in the City's financial statements as a component unit.
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Financial Highlights

During the current year of operations, the Corporation’s net position decreased by $247,802.



Total revenues for the fiscal year 2020 were $1,437,310, an increase of $22,827 or 1.6%.



Total expenses for fiscal year 2020 were $1,685,112, a decrease of $14,728 or 0.9% from the prior
year.

D



Overview of the Financial Statements

The basic financial statements include the statement of net position, statement of revenues, expenses
and changes in net position, statement of cash flows, and notes to the financial statements. The
Corporation also includes in this report additional information to supplement the basic financial
statements.
The first of these statements is the Statement of Net Position. This is the statement of financial position
presenting information that includes all of the Corporation’s assets and liabilities, with the difference
reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful
indicator of whether the financial position of the Corporation as a whole is improving or deteriorating.
Evaluation of the overall economic health of the Corporation must include other non-financial factors
such as the economic picture of the City and the State, in addition to the financial information provided in
this report.

3
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The second statement is the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, which
reports how the Corporation’s net position changed during the current and previous fiscal period.
Revenue and expenses are included when earned or incurred, regardless of when cash is received or
paid.
The third statement is the Statement of Cash Flows, which shows the sources and uses of cash.
The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements provide information essential to a full
understanding of the financial statements.
Below is a summary of the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Net Position for the year ended December 31, 2020:
Summary of Net Position
Fiscal Year

Current assets
Noncurrent assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities

$

6,167,848
17,091,900

$

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted

$

$

Change

Change

5,397,525
(5,976,317)

700.7%
-25.9%

23,838,540

(578,792)

-2.4%

548,492
24,052,081

367,769
24,065,959

180,723
(13,878)

49.1%
-0.1%

24,600,573

24,433,728

166,845

0.7%

(1,352,742)
757,554

(746,108)
471

55.2%
0.1%

(745,637)

125.3%

(2,098,850)
758,025

D

Total net position

770,323
23,068,217

Percent

23,259,748

R

Total liabilities

2019
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2020

Dollar

(1,340,825)

$

(595,188)

$

Current and Noncurrent Liabilities increased and decreased by approximately $181 thousand and $14
thousand, respectively. This was primarily due to the recognition of $355,000 in principal as current in
2020. Net investment in capital assets decreased an additional $746,108 primarily as the result of debt
service interest payments that were partially offset by interest earnings from the limited use asset.

4
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Summary of Changes in Net Position
Fiscal Year
2020
Revenues:
Charges for services
Interest income
Rental income

$

1,001,547
57,628
378,135

Dollar
Change

2019
$

786,878
627,605
-

$

214,669
(569,977)
378,135

Percent
Change
27.3%
-90.8%
100.0%

1,437,310

1,414,483

22,827

Expenses:
Contractual
Insurance
Professional fees
Miscellaneous
Interest expense
Tactical urbanism

384,195
182
7,432
2,540
1,174,713
116,050

330,486
182
14,745
2,500
1,180,927
171,000

53,709
(7,313)
40
(6,214)
(54,950)

16.3%
0.0%
-49.6%
1.6%
-0.5%
-32.1%

Total expenses

1,685,112

1,699,840

(14,728)

-0.9%

37,555

-13.2%
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Total revenues

Change in net position

$

(247,802)

$

(285,357)

$

1.6%

Charges for services increased by $214,669 or 27.3% primarily as a result of increased application
fees received in 2020.
Interest income decreased by $569,977 or 90.8% primarily as a result of the usage of restricted cash
being used for the core and shell construction and tenant fit-out of 70 Nardozzi Place.
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Interest expense decreased by $6,214 or 0.5%. (Refer to Note 5).
Budgetary Highlights
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The Corporation adopts an annual budget and reports the results of operations on a budgetary
comparison basis.
During 2020, seven projects closed resulting in a total transaction fee of $1,000,047 to the New
Rochelle Corporation for Local Development. These projects were: BRP 10 Commerce, LLC; New
Rochelle Birch Development, LLC; CH New Rochelle, LLC; WBLM 25 Maple Owner, LLC; MJ Garden,
LLC; Georgica Green Ventures, LLC; and Lincoln Renaissance, LLC. The total transaction fee
constitutes a percentage of the total transaction fees that closed under the Uniform Joint Application and
fee schedule. In January of 2018, the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (IDA) and the New
Rochelle Corporation for Local Development adopted the Uniform Joint Application and fee schedule
authorizing a percentage of closings fees from projects approved under the Joint Application to be
allocated between the IDA and the Corporation, determined on a case by case basis.
In preparing its Budget, the Corporation attempts to estimate its revenues using realistic, but
conservative, methods so as to budget its expenditure appropriations and activities in a prudent manner.
The FY 2020 budget anticipated the completion of six transactions with estimated transaction fees of
$947,962. Pursuant to the Joint Application, seven projects closed generating transaction fees in the
amount of $1,000,047. Five additional projects are anticipated to close in 2021 with an estimated
transaction fee total of $764,906, which constitutes a 60% split of the transaction fee with the New
Rochelle Industrial Development Agency, pursuant to the adoption of the Unified Joint Application and
16

fee schedule. Operating expenses were $378,401 less than the final budget offset by non-operating
expenses exceeding budget by $923,135 as a result of the $24 million bond issuance. (Refer to Note 5).
On April 18, 2018, The City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development issued bonds Series
2018 A-1 & A- 2 totaling $24,000,000. The bonds are not guaranteed by the City; however, the City is
obligated in a related sublease.
The Sublease does not constitute a general debt or liability obligation of the City, or a pledge of the
faith and credit or taxing power of the City, but shall be a special obligation expressly subject to
appropriation by the City and terminable by the City by reason of its failure or refusal to so appropriately.
The obligation of the City to make payments under the Sublease does not constitute an obligation for
which the City has levied or pledged any form of taxation.
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The City shall pay to the Issuer Base Ground Rent equal to $260,000 for the first Lease Year and for
each subsequent Lease Year, the immediate prior Sublease Base Rental Rate increased by 1.65%. In
addition, the City shall pay additional rent including, without limitation. Amounts related to applicable
CAM charges, real estate taxes, and the additional rent amounts pursuant to Section 3.1 of the
Sublease. Additional details may be found in the executed Sub-Lease.
Economic Factors

The Corporation will continue to look for funding opportunities to further its mission of promoting local
development. Each year, the Corporation will evaluate opportunities for investment of its resources in
furthering this mission.
Long-Term Liabilities

R

Long Term debt is reported as liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. Bond premiums and discounts
are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable
bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are expensed as incurred.
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Contacting Administration

This financial report is designed to provide citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a
general overview of the Corporation’s finances and to show the accountability for the money received. If
you have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact the City of New
Rochelle Corporation for Local Development’s Board at the City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle,
New York.
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2020
ASSETS
Cash and equivalents
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Restricted cash
Non-current assts
Capital assets - not being depreciated

$

17,091,900

Total Assets

23,259,748

Total Liabilities

56,870
491,622
370,000
23,682,081
24,600,573

(2,098,850)
758,025
$

(1,340,825)
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NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
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LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued interest payable
Non-current liabilities
Bonds payable, due within one year
Bonds payable, due in more than one year

Total Net Position

1,303,479
3,000
38
4,861,331

See notes to financial statements
18

City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Year Ended December 31, 2020
OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services
Rental income

$

Total Operating Revenues

1,379,682

OPERATING EXPENSES
Contractual
Insurance
Professional fees
Miscellaneous

384,195
182
7,432
2,540
394,349
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Total Operating Expenses
Operating Income

1,001,547
378,135

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSE)
Interest income
Interest expense
Tactical urbanism

R

Total Non-Operating Expenses
Change in Net Position

985,333

57,628
(1,174,713)
(116,050)
(1,233,135)
(247,802)

(595,188)

Prior Period Adjustment

(497,835)

D

NET POSITION
Beginning of Year, as reported

Beginning of Year, as restated
End of Year

(1,093,023)
$ (1,340,825)

See notes to financial statements
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2020
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from charges for services
Cash payments for goods and services

$

Net Cash from Operating Activities

1,027,934

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of capital assets
Repayment of bonds payable
Tactical Urbanism Downtown
Interest paid

(12,616,900)
(368,878)
(116,050)
(1,180,926)
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Net Cash from Capital and Related Financing Activities

(14,282,754)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest income

57,628

Net Change in Cash and Equivalents

End of Year

R

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of Year

D

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND EQUIVALENTS
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Cash and equivalents
Restricted cash
Total Cash and Equivalents

RECONCILIATION OF INCOME FROM OPERATIONS TO
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Income
Change in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Net Cash from Operating Activities

1,378,182
(350,248)

(13,197,192)

19,362,002
$

6,164,810

$

1,303,479
4,861,331

$

6,164,810

$

985,333
(1,500)
56,870
(12,769)

$

1,027,934

See notes to financial statements
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2020
Note 1 - Organization and Purpose
The City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development Corporation (“CLD”) is a Corporation for
Local Development created in 2013 under Sections 402 and 1411 of the New York Not-for-Profit
Corporation Law for the purposes of relieving unemployment, bettering job opportunities and attracting or
retaining business in the City of New Rochelle, New York (“City”). The Board of Directors of the
Corporation consist of the members of the Board of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency and
are appointed by the City. As such, the Corporation for Local Development Corporation members have
complete responsibility for management of the CLD and accountability for all fiscal matters. Accordingly,
the CLD, although established by the City, is a separate entity and operates independently of the City. The
CLD is exempt from Federal, State and local income taxes.
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Financial Reporting Entity
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A.

The CLD has been identified as an organization related to the City. In accordance with the criteria
enumerated in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 61, as such is
reported as discretely presented component unit of the City.
B.

Basis of Accounting

Assets, Liabilities and Net Position

D

C.

R

The accounting policies of the CLD conform to generally accepted accounting principles as
applicable to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) is the
accepted standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting
principles. The CLD reports its operations on the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual
basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time
liabilities are incurred.

Cash and Equivalents, Investments and Risk Disclosure
Cash and Equivalents - Cash and equivalents consist of funds deposited in demand
deposit accounts, time deposit accounts and short-term investments with original maturities
of less than three months from the date of acquisition.
The CLD’s deposits and investment policies are governed by State statutes.
adopted its own written investment policy which provides for the deposit of
insured commercial banks or trust companies located within the State.
authorized to use demand deposit accounts, time deposit accounts and
deposit.

The CLD has
funds in FDIC
The CLD is
certificates of

Collateral is required for demand deposit accounts, time deposit accounts and certificates
of deposit at 100% of all deposits not covered by Federal deposit insurance. The CLD has
entered into custodial agreements with the various banks which hold their deposits. These
agreements authorize the obligations that may be pledged as collateral. Such obligations
include, among other instruments, obligations of the United States and its agencies and
obligations of the State of New York and its municipal and school district subdivisions.

21

City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2020
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Investments - Permissible investments include obligations of the U.S. Treasury, U.S.
Agencies, repurchase agreements and obligations of New York State or its political
subdivisions.
The CLD follows the provisions of GASB Statement No. 72, “Fair Value Measurements
and Application”, which defines fair value and establishes a fair value hierarchy organized
into three levels based upon the input assumptions used in pricing assets. Level 1 inputs
have the highest reliability and are related to assets with unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets. Level 2 inputs relate to assets with other than quoted prices in active
markets which may include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities or other inputs
which can be corroborated by observable market data. Level 3 inputs are unobservable
inputs and are used to the extent that observable inputs do not exist.
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Risk Disclosure
Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that the government will incur losses
in fair value caused by changing interest rates. The CLD does not have a formal
investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing its
exposure to fair value losses arising from changing interest rates. Generally, the
CLD does not invest in any long-term investment obligations.
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Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank
failure, the CLD’s deposits may not be returned to it. GASB Statement No. 40,
“Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures – an amendment of GASB Statement No.
3”, directs that deposits be disclosed as exposed to custodial credit risk if they are
not covered by depository insurance and the deposits are either uncollateralized,
collateralized by securities held by the pledging financial institution or collateralized
by securities held by the pledging financial institution’s trust department but not in
the CLD’s name. The CLD’s aggregate bank balances that were not covered by
depository insurance were not exposed to custodial credit risk at December 31,
2020.
Credit Risk - Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty will not fulfill
its specific obligation even without the entity’s complete failure. The CLD does not
have a formal credit risk policy other than restrictions to obligations allowable under
General Municipal Law of the State of New York.

Concentration of Credit Risk - Concentration of credit risk is the risk attributed to
the magnitude of a government’s investments in a single issuer. The CLD’s
investment policy limits the amount on deposit at each of its banking institutions.
Capitalization and Depreciation
Capital Assets are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation is provided in amounts
sufficient to relate the cost of depreciable assets to operations over their estimated service lives
using the straight line method. Costs incurred in relation to development of the project for interest,
property taxes and insurance are capitalized only during periods in which activities necessary to
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2020
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
prepare the property for its intended use are in progress. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs
are charged to expense as incurred. Capital assets not being depreciated include construction-inprogress.
Net Position - represents the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources less
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Net position is comprised of three components:
restricted, and unrestricted.
Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation/amortization and reduced by outstanding balances of bonds and other debt that are
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.
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Restricted net position consists of restricted assets reduced by liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources related to those assets. Assets are reported as restricted when constraints are placed
on asset use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the CLD or through external
restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, or laws or regulations of other governments.
Unrestricted net position is the amount of the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources that does not meet the definition of the two preceding categories.
D.

Use of Estimates

D
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The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. Actual results could differ from those estimates, particularly given the significant
social and economic disruptions and uncertainties associated with the ongoing COVID-19
(“Coronavirus”) pandemic and the mitigation responses, and such differences may be material.
(See Note 6).
Note 3 - Transactions with the City of New Rochelle
As a component unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York, transactions occur between the CLD and
the City throughout the year in the ordinary course of operations. Below is a summary of significant
transactions:
Contract services - The City provides executive and administrative services as defined in an annual
contract agreed to between the City and the CLD. These services are billed semi-annually and totaled
$384,195 during 2020.
During 2018 the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (“CLD”) entered into a lease
agreement for a mixed use building being constructed at 70 Nardozzi Place, New Rochelle, New York.
Once the building is completed the lease will become effective. The lease is for an initial term of forty-
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2020
Note 3 - Transactions with the City of New Rochelle (Continued)
five (45) years with two ten (10) year options. The initial lease payment is for $260,000 annually with a
1.65% increase in each year the lease is in effect. In addition, the CLD has sub-let the premises to the
City of new Rochelle for the same forty-five (45) year term with 2 ten (10) year options. The lease
payment that is due the CLD shall be sufficient to cover the debt service necessary to retire the annual
principle and interest due on the 2018 A-1 and 2018 A-2 revenue bonds issued for the leasehold
improvements made by the CLD to the premises and the annual required lease payment made by the
CLD to the landlord.
Note 4 - Capital Assets

Changes in the CLD’s capital assets are as follows:

Note 5 - Long-Term Liabilities

Additions

$ 4,475,000

$ 12,616,900
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Construction-in-Progress

Balance
January 1,
2020

Balance
December 31,
2020

Deletions

$

-

$ 17,091,900

R

The following table summarizes changes in the CLD’s long-term liabilities for the year ended
December 31, 2020:

D

Balance
January 1,
2020

Revenue bonds
Revenue bonds
Unamortized premium on revenue bonds
Long-Term Liabilities

New Issues/
Additions

Maturities
and/or
Payments
and Other

Balance
December 31,
2020

Due Within
One Year

$ 3,805,000
20,195,000
420,959

$

-

$ 355,000
13,878

$

3,450,000
20,195,000
407,081

$ 370,000
-

$ 24,420,959

$

-

$ 368,878

$ 24,052,081

$ 370,000

Bonds payable are comprised of the following:

Bond Issue

Issued

Maturity

Interest Rate

Tax exempt revenue bond 2018A-1
Tax exempt revenue bond 2018A-2

4/18/2018
4/18/2018

8/1/2028
8/1/2050

4.20%
5.13%

Balance
December 31,
2020
$

3,450,000
20,195,000

$

23,645,000
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Note 5 - Long-Term Liabilities (Continued)
The annual requirement to amortize all bonded debt outstanding as of December 31, 2020, including
interest payments of $22,906,459 are as follows:
Principal
$

370,000
390,000
405,000
420,000
440,000
2,485,000
3,165,000
4,060,000
5,215,000
6,695,000

$

1,179,894
1,164,354
1,147,974
1,130,964
1,113,324
5,269,955
4,595,588
3,696,663
2,544,306
1,063,437
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2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026-2030
2031-2035
2036-2040
2041-2045
2046-2050

Interest

$ 23,645,000

$ 22,906,459

Note 6 - Conduit Debt Obligations, Revenue Bonds and Note Transactions
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The CLD has issued Revenue Bonds to local non-profit organizations, which provides the organizations
the opportunity to utilize tax-exempt financing for eligible projects. These bonds are secured by the
property financed and are payable solely from payments received on the underlying mortgage loans.
Upon repayment of the bonds, ownership of the facilities transfers to the non-profit organization serviced
by the bond issuance.
Neither the CLD or the City of New Rochelle, New York is obligated in any manner for repayment of the
bonds. Accordingly, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial statements.
As of December 31, 2020, there were two series of Revenue Bonds outstanding, with an aggregate
principal amount payable of $45,128,000.
Note 7 - Prior Period Adjustment
The net position as of December 31, 2019 has been decreased by $497,835 to recognize the interest
payable on the Revenue Bonds.
Note 8 - Contingencies
Coronavirus
On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic as a result of the spread
of COVID-19 (“Coronavirus”). The pandemic has resulted in substantial economic volatility on a global
scale. Given the uncertainty around the extent and timing of the potential future spread or mitigation of
the coronavirus and around the imposition or relaxation of protective measures, management cannot
reasonably estimate the impact to future results of operations, cash flows, or financial condition.
25

City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
Notes to the Financial Statements (Concluded)
December 31, 2020
Note 9 - Subsequent Events Evaluation by Management
Management has evaluated subsequent events for disclosure and/or recognition in the financial statements
through the date that the financial statements were available to be issued, which date is January XX, 2021.
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*****
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Schedule of Budget with Actual Operating Amounts
Year Ended December 31, 2020

Original Budget
OPERATING REVENUE
Charges for services
Rental

$

943,468
-

Final Budget
$

943,468
-

Actual
$

1,001,547
378,135

Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable)
$

58,079
378,135

Total Revenues

943,468

943,468

1,379,682

OPERATING EXPENSES
Contractual
Insurance
Professional fees
Miscellaneous

367,450
300
400,000
5,000

367,450
300
400,000
5,000

384,195
182
7,432
2,540

(16,745)
118
392,568
2,460

772,750

772,750

394,349

378,401

985,333

814,615

Operating Income
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Total Operating Expenses

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSE)
Interest income
Interest expense
Tactical urbanism
Total Non-Operating Expenses

170,718

170,718

(310,000)

(310,000)

57,628
(1,174,713)
(116,050)

57,628
(1,174,713)
193,950

(310,000)

(310,000)

(1,233,135)

(923,135)

(139,282)

(139,282)

(247,802)

(108,520)

139,282

139,282

(595,188)

(734,470)

-

-

(497,835)

(497,835)

139,282

139,282

(1,093,023)

(1,232,305)

R

Deficiency of revenues over expenses

D

NET POSITION
Beginning of Year, as reported
Prior Period Adjustment

Beginning of Year, as restated
End of Year

$

436,214

-

$

-

$

(1,340,825)

$

(1,340,825)
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance
With Government Auditing Standards
Independent Auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors of the
City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
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We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the City of New
Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (“CLD”) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020,
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the CLD’s financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated January XX, 2021.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

D

R

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the CLD's internal control
over financial reporting (“internal control”) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the CLD’s internal control. Accordingly, we
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the CLD’s internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the CLD's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on
the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with
those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.
Purpose of this Report

D
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PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP
Harrison, New York
January XX, 2021
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The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the CLD’s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the CLD’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors of the
City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
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We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the City of New Rochelle
Corporation for Local Development (“CLD”), a discretely presented component unit of the City of New
Rochelle, New York, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the CLD’s basic financial statements and have issued our report
thereon dated March ___, 2021, which expresses an unmodified opinion.

R

In connection with our audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the IDA failed to
comply with the CLD’s Investment Guidelines, the New York State (“NYS”) Comptroller’s Investment
Guidelines, Section 2925 of the NYS Public Authorities Law or Section 201.3 of the NYS Public Authorities
Law (collectively, the “Investment Guidelines”), insofar as they relate to accounting matters. However, our
audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance. Accordingly, had we
performed additional procedures, other matters may have come to our attention regarding the CLD’s
noncompliance with the Investment Guidelines, insofar as they relate to accounting matters.

D

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the members of the board of directors,
management of the CLD, and the Office of the New York State Comptroller and is not intended to be and
should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP
Harrison, New York
March XX, 2021
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Date: March 24, 2021
At a meeting of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the
"Corporation"), held at City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle, New York on the 24th day
of March 2021, the following members of the Corporation were:
PRESENT:
ABSENT:
ALSO PRESENT:
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After the meeting had been duly called to order, the Chair announced that among the
purposes of the meeting was to consider and take action on certain matters pertaining to entering
into an agreement with The Acceleration Project for the purposes of providing a "Strategic
Advisory Program" to furnish strategic and tactical advice to New Rochelle businesses, either as
new and/or second-phase participants in the "Strategic Advisory Program", to improve their
business performance and provide then the tools needed to guide their business decisions.

R

The following resolution was duly moved, seconded, discussed and adopted with the
following members voting:
Voting Nay

D

Voting Aye
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RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEW ROCHELLE
CORPORATION
FOR
LOCAL
DEVELOPMENT
AUTHORIZING ENTERING INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH
THE ACCELERATION PROJECT TO PROVIDE A
STRATEGIC ADVISORY PROGRAM TO FURNISH
STRATEGIC AND TACTICAL ADVICE TO EXISTING NEW
ROCHELLE BUSINESSES, EITHER AS NEW AND/OR
SECOND-PHASE PARTICIPANTS IN THE STRATEGIC
ADVISORY PROGRAM, AND THE EXPENDITURE OF UP
TO $53,900 TOWARD THE PAYMENT OF THE COST OF
SUCH AGREEMENT.
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WHEREAS, pursuant to the purposes and powers contained within Section 1411 of the
Not-for-Profit Corporation Law (the "NPCL") of the State of New York (the "State"), as
amended, and pursuant to its certificate of incorporation filed on August 17, 2012, the CITY OF
NEW ROCHELLE CORPORATION FOR LOCAL DEVELOPMENT (the "Corporation")
was established as a not-for-profit local development corporation of the State with the authority
and power to own, lease and sell personal and real property for the purposes of, among other
things, acquiring, constructing and equipping certain projects exclusively in furtherance of the
charitable or public purposes of relieving and reducing unemployment, promoting and providing
for additional and maximum employment, bettering and maintaining job opportunities,
instructing or training individuals to improve or develop their capabilities for such jobs, by
encouraging the development of, or retention of, an industry in the community or area, and
lessening the burdens of government and acting in the public interest; and

R

WHEREAS, to carry out the aforesaid purposes, the Corporation has the power under the
NPCL to do all things necessary to fulfill its obligations imposed by the NPCL; and

D

WHEREAS, the Corporation heretofore undertook discussions with The Acceleration
Project, a not-for-profit corporation ("TAP"), to provide support to the existing business
community, including the retail business community, in the City of New Rochelle (the "City") as
well as support to businesses new to the City; and
WHEREAS, TAP is an innovative consulting firm providing high-caliber consulting
services at an accessible price to small businesses, entrepreneurs, municipalities and non-profits
with a mission to (i) support small businesses to keep local economies vital, and (ii) channel
talent into local economies; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to its proposal, dated November 28, 2018 presented to the
Corporation (the "2018 Proposal"), TAP proposed to furnish to the Corporation its "Strategic
Advisory Program" whereby TAP proposed to furnish strategic and tactical advice to certain
existing New Rochelle businesses to improve their business performance and provide them the
tools needed to guide their business decisions over the next one (1) to three (3) years, including,
but not limited to, competitive research, financial pro-formas, marketing strategy, operations
improvements and customer satisfaction (all the foregoing being collectively referred to herein as
the "Services"); and
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WHEREAS, by resolution duly adopted by the Corporation on November 28, 2018, the
Corporation authorized entering into an agreement with the TAP to provide the services as set
forth in the 2018 Proposal at a cost not to exceed $26,643; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Corporation’s resolution adopted on November 28, 2018, the
Corporation and TAP entered into a certain Economic Development Services Agreement, dated
as of March 11, 2019 (the "Economic Development Services Agreement") for the provision by
TAP of the services set forth in the 2018 Proposal; and
WHEREAS, by resolution duly adopted by the Corporation on January 29, 2020, the
Corporation authorized entering into an agreement with TAP to provide the services as set forth
in the 2018 Proposal at a cost not to exceed $53,900; and
WHEREAS, the Corporation has heretofore undertaken additional discussions with TAP
to continue to provide support to the existing business community, including the retail business
community, in the City as well as support to businesses new to the City; and
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WHEREAS, pursuant to its proposal, dated March 15, 2021, presented to the Corporation
(the "2021 Proposal") attached hereto as Exhibit A, TAP proposed to continue to provide the
Services to certain New Rochelle businesses, either as new and/or second-phase participants in
the "Strategic Advisory Program", to improve their business performance and provide then the
tools needed to guide their business decisions and provide support as a result of the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic; and
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WHEREAS, the Corporation has determined that entering into an agreement with TAP at
this time for the provision of the Services to New Rochelle businesses, either as new and/or
second-phase participants, pursuant to the 2021 Proposal, would be consistent with, and would
serve to further, the Corporation’s not-for-profit purposes, including, but not limited to, relieving
and reducing unemployment, promoting and providing for additional and maximum
employment, bettering and maintaining job opportunities, instructing or training individuals to
improve or develop their capabilities for such jobs, by encouraging the development of, or
retention of, an industry in the community or area, and lessening the burdens of government and
acting in the public interest.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Corporation (a majority of the
members thereof affirmatively concurring) as follows:
Section 1.
The Corporation hereby determines that entering into an agreement with
TAP for purposes of providing the Services to certain New Rochelle businesses, either as new
and/or second-phase participants, pursuant to the 2021 Proposal, and the provision of financing
of the cost thereof constitutes a Type II Action pursuant to the New York State Environmental
Quality Review Act, Article 8 of the New York State Environmental Conservation Law and the
regulations adopted pursuant thereto at 6 N.Y.C.R.R. Part 617.1 et. seq., as amended.
Section 2.

The Corporation hereby further finds and determines:
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(a)
By virtue of the NPCL, the Corporation has been vested with all powers necessary
and convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the NPCL and to
exercise all powers granted to it under the NPCL; and
(b)
Entering into an agreement with TAP for purposes of providing the Services to
certain New Rochelle businesses, either as new and/or second-phase participants, pursuant to the
2021 Proposal, (i) will serve to further, the Corporation’s not-for-profit purposes, including, but
not limited to, relieving and reducing unemployment, promoting and providing for additional and
maximum employment, bettering and maintaining job opportunities, instructing or training
individuals to improve or develop their capabilities for such jobs, by encouraging the
development of, or retention of, an industry in the community or area, and lessening the burdens
of government and acting in the public interest, and (ii) is authorized by the NPCL and will be in
furtherance of the policy of the State of New York as set forth therein; and
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(c)
It is desirable and in the public interest for the Corporation to enter into an
agreement with TAP for purposes of providing the Services to certain New Rochelle businesses,
either as new and/or second-phase participants, pursuant to the 2021 Proposal; and
(d)
The Corporation has the authority to enter into an agreement with TAP for such
purposes; and
(e)
The funds for the payment of the amount due from the Corporation for Phase 1 of
the Strategic Advisory Program in an amount not to exceed $53,900 are available in the
Corporation’s 2021 budget.
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Section 3.
In consequence of the foregoing, the Corporation is hereby authorized to
enter into an agreement with TAP for purposes of providing the Services to certain New
Rochelle businesses, either as new and/or second-phase participants, pursuant to the 2021
Proposal, at an amount to be expended by the Corporation thereunder not to exceed $53,900 and
upon such other terms and conditions as the Executive Director, Chairman or Assistant Secretary
of the Corporation may determine to be necessary and appropriate, provided that such terms and
conditions are consistent with the purposes and terms of this resolution.
Section 4.
In furtherance of the foregoing purposes, the Corporation hereby
determines that an amount of $53,900 in revenues heretofore received by the Corporation shall
be allocated to line item [consultants] under its 2021 budget and that such amount is further
hereby appropriated from its 2021 budget under such line item.
Section 5.
The Corporation, acting by and through its Executive Director, Chairman
or Executive Director is hereby authorized to negotiate, execute and deliver such agreements and
documents, and to do all things, necessary or appropriate for the accomplishment of the purposes
of this resolution, and all acts heretofore taken by the Corporation with respect to the subject
matter of this resolution are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed.
Section 6.

This resolution shall take effect immediately.
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER

)
: SS.
)

I, the undersigned Secretary of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local
Development, DO HEREBY CERTIFY:
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That I have compared the annexed extract of the minutes of the meeting of the City of
New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the "Corporation"), including the resolutions
contained therein, held on the 24th day of March 2021, with the original thereof on file in my
office, and that the same is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Corporation and of
such resolutions set forth therein and of the whole of said original insofar as the same related to
the subject matters therein referred to.
I FURTHER CERTIFY that public notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly
given to the public and the news media in accordance with the New York Open Meetings Law,
constituting Chapter 511 of the Laws of 1976 of the State of New York, as amended, that all
members of said Corporation had due notice of said meeting and that said meeting was in all
respects duly held.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as of the ____ day of March

By:________________________________
Secretary

D

2021.
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Exhibit A
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TAP Proposal for Corporation for Local Development Dated March 15, 2021
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New Rochelle - The Acceleration Project
Phase 3 Proposal

D

March 2021

This document contains information that is conﬁdential and is the property of The
Acceleration Project (TAP). It may not be copied, published or used, in whole or in part,
for any purpose other than as expressly authorized by The Acceleration Project (TAP).
© The Acceleration Project (TAP) 2020. All Rights Reserved.
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Phase 2 Report
Background and Opportunity
After a successful Phase 1, New Rochelle re-engaged TAP’s business support in
2020, Phase 2

●

TAP’s oﬀering evolved to complement grants oﬀered by the REBOUND NEW
ROCHELLE program, in an eﬀort to provide small businesses with a range of
support during the Covid crisis.

●

TAP consultants provided strategic and tactical advice to help these small
businesses address urgent concerns, survive uncertainty, recover lost revenue
and prepare for new normal.

●

A total of 10 small businesses were advised:
○
5 grant recipients from 2020
○
3 repeat participants from Phase 1, 2019
○
2 underwritten by a grant from the Westchester Community Foundation

●

Diverse representation: 4 Women Owned Businesses, 4 People of Color Owned
Business from arts, restaurants, retailers, ﬁtness, construction and entertainment
industries
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●
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Phase 2: Impact to Date
● Conﬁdent on decision making regarding employees for full PPP forgiveness
"The timing of our first interactions set the stage for us to be able to work through a very difficult time. The relationship
with TAP was super important to me and my business."

● Ready to hire and getting new lease once Covid passes

T

“I was able to create a clear path to move my business forward through all of the Covid-19 struggles and I know
that once the pandemic subsided I will be ready to rebuild my business in an organized and eﬀective way”

● Increased potential for new revenues from new college partnerships and sponsors

●
●
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“This has been wonderfully enlightening as to how I should approach certain problems...and in what I can do to
push my business forward in the direction I want to take it”

Negotiations with POS system w/potential annual savings of $1.5k on fees and $2.5 in hardware
Recommendations for integrated operations, payment, online orders and marketing systems

“My concerns became their priorities and ….they acted as though it was their equity...that is powerful”

D

● Social media presence increased, while getting new clients
“My consultants were always ready and willing to help. They also got to know the business which was
important, instead of just throwing facts at us. They took the time to look at our business”
● Shifted to new revenue stream with virtual events; cash ﬂow management improved
Awaiting satisfaction survey
●

In progress: Streamlined leads/inquiries; cash ﬂow management tightened; strengthen marketing
by segment and channels
Awaiting satisfaction survey

● In progress: Focusing on strengthening her catering business (menus, pricing, marketing)
Awaiting satisfaction survey
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Proposed Phase 3
Support 8 Businesses:
TAP is excited to continue to support diverse business owners in a variety of industries and
longevity in New Rochelle during the transition out of Covid.
Description

# of businesses

TAP Boot Camps

Partner with businesses new to the TAP program
to strengthen ongoing operations and position
them to beneﬁt from recovery

4 businesses
new to TAP
services

6-10 Weeks
Scoping Session +
6-8 Working Sessions

TAP Capsules

Provide guidance and speciﬁc support to
participants in Phase 2 with focus on
implementation of TAP recommendations

2 businesses
from Phase 2

2 Weeks
2 Working Sessions

TAP Capsules

Provide guidance and speciﬁc support to
businesses new to TAP (who didn’t qualify for
in-depth Boot Camps)
Potential speciﬁc issues:PPP forgiveness, loan
applications, cash ﬂow models, projections,
break-even, website audit, online audit

2 businesses
new to TAP
services

3 Weeks
Scoping Session +
2 Working Sessions

D
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Type of Support

Deliverables
● Customized tools, research and recommendations
● Focus on outcomes supporting success metrics
● Customized, time-bound Action Plans
● Check-ins at 3, 6 and 12 months after wrap- up

Approximate Length

Next Steps
● Outreach and Marketing of program
● Review applications and select new participants
● TAP works with each business
● TAP reports on results to NR Devp’t Dep’t

Fee: $53,900
Pricing is inclusive of additional donated funds and services and may not be reﬂective of actual cost
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Phase 2 - Focus of Work & Process
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New Rochelle/TAP Project - Focus of Work
● PPP information organized for forgiveness with TAP tracker

CrossFit Pop

● Using TAP ﬁnancial tool as guidance to monitor cash ﬂow and understand expansion/capacity projections
● Strengthen out-of-home business operations

Encore Esports

● Kick-oﬀ plan for acquiring sponsors, new revenue stream
● Started eﬀort to standardize learnings and process for acquiring new colleges in esports league

AJ Burgers

●
●
●
●
●

Analyzed best tech solution to reduce dependence on staﬀ
Research/negotiation POS systems
Research Website menu mgt/ online ordering
Evaluation sales performance per menu category/ Opportunity for upsell
Supported hiring of new employees ( job descriptions, postings)

A & T IronWorks

●
●
●
●

Established growth plan per segment for 2021, focused on key marketing levers
Revision of Cash Flow for improvement
Improving time management/quoting/ operations
Detailed recommendations for leads management through website

New Beginnings
Performing Studio

● Marketing focus: Recommendations on Social media changes, website revamped, YouTube channel best
practices
● P&L, pricing/discounts and cash ﬂow analysis

Hour To Exit

●
●
●

Adjusting business model for virtual activities; research on options and pricing
Testing new virtual service for learnings ** (pending)
New focus on cash ﬂow, easier to understand

SuggarPlums
(Paused,
restarted end of
February )

●

Refocus on new, covid friendly catering service, to leverage current clients
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Curtain Shop
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New Ro/TAP Project: Phase 2 Process
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TAP Proposal for Corporation for Local Development
Date: March 15, 2021
Objective:
The New Rochelle Development Department seeks to continue to provide support to the existing business community
as the economic environment changes around them, with continuing retail and residential development and the
additional impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. The Acceleration Project (TAP), a mission-driven business advisory firm
committed to supporting the vitality of local economies by keeping small business thriving, will continue to provide
strategic and tactical advice to New Rochelle businesses to endure through these challenging conditions, and will
provide them with the practical tools they need to make decisions and propel their businesses forward in the evolving
landscape.

Scope and Deliverables:
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T

TAP will provide services to 8 businesses. Four businesses new to TAP will receive in-depth services through a Boot
Camp Advisory that will extend over six-to-ten weeks; two businesses from Phase 2 will receive follow-up
implementation sessions; and two businesses new to TAP will participate in Capsules that will extend over a 2-3 week
period.

D
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All participants will receive advisory services from a pair of TAP consultants. Four businesses new to TAP will receive
in-depth Boot Camp advisory where consultants will identify and prioritize realistic goals for each business, utilize
customized TAP tools to address immediate needs, and create a structured, results-oriented, tactical and time-bound
Action Plan to guide the business through their next twelve months of operations. Areas addressed may include, but
are not limited to, competitive research, financial statement analysis, marketing strategy, operations improvements and
adjustments, customer satisfaction, new customer acquisition, online presence, etc. Two selected businesses from
Phase 2 (2020) will receive follow-on services as Capsules, providing additional advisory services as well as
implementation support for Action Plan recommendations, where possible. Two new businesses to TAP, who are better
suited for the shorter Capsule program, will be provided with Capsule support around specific challenges including but
not limited to PPP forgiveness, loan applications, cash flow models, projections, break-even analysis, online presence
audit, and/or brand strategy recommendations.
TAP will conduct checkpoints at 3, 6 and 12 months after delivery of the Action Plan to track success metrics, including
ongoing operations, job preservation, job creation, and revenue growth. Client satisfaction will be captured through
TAP’s feedback survey.
TAP Management Team will work with New Rochelle partners to develop criteria for client participation; New Rochelle
partners will publicize the program and seek applicants. TAP will make the final selection based on agreed-upon
criteria. TAP Management Team will assign consultant pairs, develop and deliver relevant training materials to
consultants, provide regular check-ins with clients and consultants, oversee deliverables, and deliver regular updates
and final materials to relevant New Rochelle partners. Where beneficial, the larger TAP team will provide additional
support to consultants, leveraging industry expertise and functional experience present among our larger team.
Estimated Budget for Phase 3
Compensation is requested at $53,900. TAP resources required include
● Minimum of 16 consultants assigned to Boot Camp Advisories and Capsules
● TAP management to coordinate and train consultant team, oversee client service, and track milestones and
report on outcomes
● Access to larger TAP team, including financial SWAT team, marketing experts and content experts
● Administrative support
Pricing is indicative of CLD being public authority; additional donated funds and services included, may not be
reflective of actual cost.
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Date: March 24, 2021
At a meeting of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the
"Corporation") held at City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle, New York on the 24th day of
March, 2021, the following members of the Agency were:
PRESENT:
ABSENT:
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ALSO PRESENT:

After the meeting had been duly called to order, the Chair announced that among the
purposes of the meeting was to consider and take action on certain matters pertaining to
authorizing the assignment to the City of New Rochelle of all or a portion of an existing contract
with Circuit Transit Inc. for the provision of free transit shuttle and circulator service in the City
of New Rochelle.

Voting Nay

D

Voting Aye

R

The following resolution was duly moved, seconded, discussed and adopted with the
following members voting:
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RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEW ROCHELLE
CORPORATION
FOR
LOCAL
DEVELOPMENT
AUTHORIZING THE ASSIGNMENT TO THE CITY OF
NEW ROCHELLE OF ALL OR A PORTION OF AN
EXISTING CONTRACT WITH CIRCUIT TRANSIT INC.
FOR THE PROVISION OF FREE TRANSIT SHUTTLE
AND CIRCULATOR SERVICE IN THE CITY OF NEW
ROCHELLE.
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WHEREAS, pursuant to the purposes and powers contained within Section 1411 of the
Not-for-Profit Corporation Law (the "NPCL") of the State of New York (the "State"), as
amended, and pursuant to its certificate of incorporation filed on August 17, 2012, the City of
New Rochelle Corporation For Local Development (the "Corporation") was established as a notfor-profit local development corporation of the State with the authority and power to own, lease
and sell personal and real property for the purposes of, among other things, acquiring,
constructing and equipping certain projects exclusively in furtherance of the charitable or public
purposes of relieving and reducing unemployment, promoting and providing for additional and
maximum employment, bettering and maintaining job opportunities, instructing or training
individuals to improve or develop their capabilities for such jobs, by encouraging the
development of, or retention of, an industry in the community or area, and lessening the burdens
of government and acting in the public interest; and
WHEREAS, to carry out the aforesaid purposes, the Corporation has the power under the
NPCL to do all things necessary to fulfill its obligations imposed by the NPCL; and

D
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WHEREAS, pursuant to its resolution duly adopted by the Corporation at its meeting of
December 18, 2019 (the "December 2019 Resolution"), the Corporation authorized funding for
the purposes of entering into a certain Agreement for General Services Circulator Service (the
"Original Agreement") with the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency")
and Circuit Transit, Inc. (the "Contractor") to provide a zero-emission electric shuttle service
covering downtown New Rochelle free to the general public (the "New Rochelle Shuttle
Program"), all as more fully set forth in the December 2019 Resolution and the Original
Agreement; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to its resolution duly adopted by the Corporation at its meeting of
December 16, 2020 (the “December 2020 Resolution”), the Corporation authorized the execution
and delivery of that certain First Amendment to Agreement for General Services Circulator
Service, dated as of January 1, 2021 (the “First Amendment”; and, together with the Original
Agreement, the “Agreement”), between the Corporation and the Contractor to, among other
things, extend the Original Agreement term by one year; and
WHEREAS, Section 4 of the Agreement authorizes the parties thereto to renew the term
of the Agreement upon mutual written consent of the parties thereto; and
WHEREAS, the Corporation supports the continuation of the New Rochelle Shuttle
Program because it will continue to provide accessible urban public transportation systems that

48

generate economic development, help to revitalize business districts, attract jobs and allow
employers to tap into larger workforces, serve to build economic revenues and attract housing;
and
WHEREAS, the Corporation supports the continuation of the New Rochelle Shuttle
Program because it will continue to serve to further the purposes of the Corporation, including,
without limitation, benefitting and enhancing the Downtown of the City, including the City’s
Arts and Cultural District, and the advancement of the goals and purposes of the City; and
WHEREAS, the Corporation has been advised that the City is willing to assume the
Corporation’s rights and duties under the Agreement in order to allow for the New Rochelle
Shuttle Program to continue providing services to the residents of the City and that such
assignment would be consistent with, and would serve to further, the Corporation’s not-for-profit
purposes.
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NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Corporation (a majority of the
members thereof affirmatively concurring) as follows:
Section 1.
The Corporation hereby determines that the assignment of the Agreement
to the City constitutes a Type II Action pursuant to the New York State Environmental Quality
Review Act, Article 8 of the New York State Environmental Conservation Law and the
regulations adopted pursuant thereto at 6 N.Y.C.R.R. Part 617.1 et. seq., as amended.
Section 2.

The Corporation hereby finds and determines:

R

(a)
By virtue of the NPCL, the Corporation has been vested with all powers necessary
and convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the NPCL and to
exercise all powers granted to it under the NPCL; and

D

(b)
Entering into an assignment to the Agreement with the City at this time for the
purposes of continuing the New Rochelle Shuttle Program (i) will serve to further, the
Corporation’s not-for-profit purposes and (ii) is authorized by the NPCL and will be in
furtherance of the policy of the State of New York as set forth therein; and
(c)
It is desirable and in the public interest for the Corporation to enter into an
assignment of the Agreement with the City at this time for the purposes of continuing the New
Rochelle Shuttle Program.
Section 3.
In consequence of the foregoing, the Corporation hereby agrees to enter
into an assignment of the Agreement with the City for the purposes of continuing to undertake
the New Rochelle Shuttle Program upon such terms and conditions as the Executive Director, the
Chairman or the Assistant Secretary may determine to be necessary and appropriate, provided
that such terms and conditions are consistent with the purposes and terms of this resolution.
Section 4.
The Corporation, acting by and through its Executive Director, Chairman
or Assistant Secretary is hereby authorized to negotiate, execute and deliver such agreements and
documents, and to do all things, necessary or appropriate for the accomplishment of the purposes
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of this resolution, and all acts heretofore taken by or on behalf of the Corporation with respect to
the subject matter of this resolution are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed.
This resolution shall take effect immediately.
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Section 5.
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER

)
: SS.
)

I, the undersigned Secretary of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local
Development, DO HEREBY CERTIFY:
That I have compared the annexed extract of the minutes of the meeting of the City of
New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the "Corporation"), including the resolutions
contained therein, held on the 24th day of March 2021, with the original thereof on file in my
office, and that the same is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Corporation and of
such resolutions set forth therein and of the whole of said original insofar as the same related to
the subject matters therein referred to.
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I FURTHER CERTIFY, that all members of the Corporation had due notice of said
meeting, that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the
Public Officers Law ("Open Meetings Law") and pursuant to Governor Andrew Cuomo’s
Executive Orders (the "Executive Orders") authorizing the conduct of public meetings under the
Open Meetings Law through use of telephone conference, video conference and/or other similar
service, said meeting was open to the general public in accordance with the requirements of the
Executive Orders, and that public notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly given in
accordance with such Article 7.

R

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that there was a quorum of the members of the Corporation
present throughout said meeting.

2021.

D

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that as of the date hereof, the attached resolutions are in full
force and effect and have not been amended, repealed or modified.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as of the ____ day of March,

By:________________________________
Secretary
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Date: March 24, 2021
At a meeting of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the
"Corporation"), held at City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle, New York on the 24th day of
March, 2021, the following members of the Corporation were:
PRESENT:
ABSENT:
ALSO PRESENT:

AF
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After the meeting had been duly called to order, the Chair announced that among the
purposes of the meeting was to consider and take action on certain matters pertaining to authorizing
the execution and delivery of a three-month extension of the existing contract with Crafted
Creative, Inc. to provide certain professional economic development services and the expenditure
of up to $38,673 for the funding of the cost of such three-month contract extension.
The following resolution was duly moved, seconded, discussed and adopted with the
following members voting:
Voting Nay
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Voting Aye
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RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEW ROCHELLE
CORPORATION
FOR
LOCAL
DEVELOPMENT
AUTHORIZING AN EXTENSION TO JUNE 30, 2021, OF
THE EXISTING AGREEMENT WITH CRAFTED
CREATIVE,
INC.
TO
PROVIDE
CERTAIN
PROFESSIONAL
ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT
SERVICES AND THE EXPENDITURE OF UP TO $38,673
TOWARD THE PAYMENT OF THE COST OF SUCH
THREE-MONTH EXTENSION OF COMPONENTS OF
THE EXISTING AGREEMENT.
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WHEREAS, pursuant to the purposes and powers contained within Section 1411 of the
Not-for-Profit Corporation Law (the "NPCL") of the State of New York (the "State"), as amended,
and pursuant to its certificate of incorporation filed on August 17, 2012, the CITY OF NEW
ROCHELLE CORPORATION FOR LOCAL DEVELOPMENT (the "Corporation") was
established as a not-for-profit local development corporation of the State with the authority and
power to own, lease and sell personal and real property for the purposes of, among other things,
acquiring, constructing and equipping certain projects exclusively in furtherance of the charitable
or public purposes of relieving and reducing unemployment, promoting and providing for
additional and maximum employment, bettering and maintaining job opportunities, instructing or
training individuals to improve or develop their capabilities for such jobs, by encouraging the
development of, or retention of, an industry in the community or area, and lessening the burdens
of government and acting in the public interest; and
WHEREAS, to carry out the aforesaid purposes, the Corporation has the power under the
NPCL to do all things necessary to fulfill its obligations imposed by the NPCL; and
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WHEREAS, the Corporation previously undertook discussions with Crafted Creative, Inc.
(the "Contractor") for the purposes of providing certain professional economic development
marketing materials designer services (the "Services"); and
WHEREAS, the Contractor submitted to the Corporation its proposal captioned "2020
Marketing Plan" (the "2020 Proposal") to provide the Services at a cost not to exceed $244,000;
and
WHEREAS, the Corporation determined that entering into an agreement with the
Contractor for the purposes of undertaking the Services, would be consistent with, and would serve
to further, the Corporation’s not-for-profit purposes, including, but not limited to, lessening the
burdens of government and acting in the public interest; and
WHEREAS, the Corporation and the Contractor entered into a certain Economic
Development Services Agreement, dated as of March 26, 2020, with respect to the Services (the
"Agreement"); and
WHEREAS, the Corporation desires to extend the Agreement with respect to certain of the
Services for a three-month period beginning April 1, 2021, and concluding June 30, 2021, which
shall include the payment to the Contractor of an ongoing retainer in the amount of $7,800 monthly
and a payment to the Contractor monthly in the amount $5,091 for Core Services (as defined in
the 2020 Proposal), totaling an expenditure of $38,673 for such three-month period.
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NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Corporation (a majority of the members
thereof affirmatively concurring) as follows:
Section 1.
The Corporation hereby determines that entering into an agreement with the
Contractor at this time for the purposes of undertaking the Core Services and the provision of
financing of the cost thereof constitutes a Type II Action pursuant to the New York State
Environmental Quality Review Act, Article 8 of the New York State Environmental Conservation
Law and the regulations adopted pursuant thereto at 6 N.Y.C.R.R. Part 617.1 et. seq., as amended.
Section 2.

The Corporation hereby further finds and determines:

(a)
By virtue of the NPCL, the Corporation has been vested with all powers necessary
and convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the NPCL and to exercise
all powers granted to it under the NPCL; and
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(b)
Entering into a three-month extension of the agreement with the Contractor and to
pay the Contractor for an ongoing retainer and Core Services, (i) will serve to further, the
Corporation’s not-for-profit purposes, including, but not limited to, lessening the burdens of
government and acting in the public interest, and (ii) is authorized by the NPCL and will be in
furtherance of the policy of the State of New York as set forth therein; and
(c)
It is desirable and in the public interest for the Corporation to enter into an extension
of the agreement with the Contractor to pay the Contractor for an ongoing retainer and Core
Services; and

R

(d)
The Corporation has the authority to enter into an extension of the agreement with
the Contractor for such purposes; and

D

(e)
The funds for the payment of the amount due from the Corporation to pay the
Contractor's monthly retainer and the Core Services expiring June 30, 2021, shall be in an amount
not to exceed $38,673, and are available in the Corporation’s 2021 budget under the Marketing
line item.
Section 3.
In consequence of the foregoing, the Corporation is hereby authorized to
enter into a three-month extension of the agreement with the Contractor for the purposes of paying
the Contractor for an ongoing retainer and Core Services as set forth in the 2020 Proposal at an
amount to be expended by the Corporation thereunder not to exceed $38,673 and upon such other
terms and conditions as the Executive Director, Chairman or Assistant Secretary of the
Corporation may determine to be necessary and appropriate, provided that such terms and
conditions are consistent with the purposes and terms of this resolution.
Section 4.
In furtherance of the foregoing purposes, the Corporation hereby
appropriates an amount not to exceed $38,673 from its 2021 budget under the Marketing line item.
Section 5.
The Corporation, acting by and through its Executive Director, Chairman
or Assistant Secretary is hereby authorized to negotiate, execute and deliver such agreements and
documents, and to do all things, necessary or appropriate for the accomplishment of the purposes
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of this resolution, and all acts heretofore taken by the Corporation with respect to the subject matter
of this resolution are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed.
Section 6.

This resolution shall take effect immediately.
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[The Balance of This Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER

)
: SS.
)

I, the undersigned Secretary of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local
Development, DO HEREBY CERTIFY:
That I have compared the annexed extract of the minutes of the meeting of the City of New
Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the "Corporation"), including the resolutions
contained therein, held on the 24th day of March, 2021, with the original thereof on file in my
office, and that the same is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Corporation and of
such resolutions set forth therein and of the whole of said original insofar as the same related to
the subject matters therein referred to.
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I FURTHER CERTIFY that public notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly
given to the public and the news media in accordance with the New York Open Meetings Law,
constituting Chapter 511 of the Laws of 1976 of the State of New York, as amended, that all
members of said Corporation had due notice of said meeting and that said meeting was in all
respects duly held.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as of the 24th day of March, 2021.
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By:________________________________
Secretary
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2020 Marketing Plan
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City of New Rochelle
Mar 25, 2020 @ 12:26 PM
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Overview & Goals
Dear Luiz,
Thanks for the opportunity to work on 2020 Marketing Plan for the City of New Rochelle.
In our proposals, we try to ensure that we address each of your needs with a solution. From our
discussions, these are the three that seem to have emerged and are the most important to solve
for you:

T

1. 2020 Campaign: :60s Hero Video, Social Vignettes (Art and Tech), :30-:60s Contest Video

AF

2. Ongoing Retainer: Leverage 2020 Campaign assets for social posts, marketing materials,
copy and PR support
3. Core Services:
1. IdeallyNR Maintenance, Hosting and Updates

2. NewRochelleDRI.com: Maintenance and Hosting

R

3. Social Network Management: Posting and Management (Instagram + Facebook)

D

We hope these solutions are in alignment with your project goals. After you go through the
proposal, let us know how you'd like to move forward from here.
Warmest Regards,

Peter Mendez & Greg Valvano
Co-Founders of Crafted

2020 Marketing Plan | City of New Rochelle
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Scope of New Services
NEW ROCHELLE "IDEALLY YOURS" CAMPAIGN
Crafted will focus on 2 themes: The Art Scene and the Tech Scene. There’s a rise of young,
creative energy happening in the downtown. Let’s tell the story of the resident startups under
the new Accel 7 cohort and others around the city, as well as amplify the budding art scene
taking over in the downtown and surrounding area.
PHASE 1: PRE-PRODUCTION • 1-2 Weeks
ON BOARDING

T

The first step is we need to thoroughly understand your event, align on goals, set expectations
and outline a plan to execute.
Process:

AF

• Meet team members, establish communication channels and establish process.
• Meet with leadership and event ambassadors to determine goals, audience segments,
and define key performance indicators
• Agree of SOW and sign contracts
Deliverables:

R

• Develop Scope of Work and Key Deliverables
• Establish Project Schedule
• Contracts & Kickoffs

D

• Storyboards

• Location Scout

PHASE 2: PRODUCTION • 1 Day
1 days of production
• 6 person crew
◦ 1x Director

◦ 1x UPM/AD (for day of logistics management)
◦ 1x Production Assistant
◦ 2x Director of Photography
◦ 1x Assistant Camera
• Equipment
◦ Cinema Grade Cameras
◦ 2 Gimble or Easy Rigs
◦ All other camera support equipment

2020 Marketing Plan | City of New Rochelle
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◦ Monitors
◦ Lighting
PHASE 3: POST PRODUCTION • 2 Weeks
Deliverables
• Color Corrections
• Music
• All Graphics
• Animation
• Editing with two rounds of edit notes
• 1x :60s for social and website (includes art and tech elements)

T

• 1x :30s cut for TV (includes art and tech elements)

• 2x :30s "Art Scene" cut for social and website and TV
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• 2x :30s "Tech Scene" cut for social and website and TV
• 1x :30-60s "Social Contest" for social and website
PHASE 3: MEDIA BUDGET • Ongoing

• Media Buys: strategically optimized for visibility and engagement

R

• Weekly Analytics Report: monitoring performance and management

D

Scope of Ongoing Retainer
Crafted and the City have a forged a long, trusted relationship. As such the Crafted team is able
to respond quickly with minimal explanation and deliver on-point creatives with fast turn
around. A retainer will enable the Crafted team to more directly, and in the moment, support
creative asset design, social posts, marketing materials and PR support throughout the year.
Approximately 40 hours a month is included in this support stream. 4 "free" hours a month are
included in that rate. Hours may roll over month to month, but not year to year. Retainer will be
re-assed if the monthly budget goes an additional 10% (or 8 hours total).
WHA
WHATT IS INCLUDED IN THE YEARLY RET
RETAINER
AINER
Deliverables:
• Creatives: Leverage 2020 Campaign assets for social posts, marketing materials, copy and
PR support
• Free Stock Photography (as needed)
• Deliver Print Production Files

2020 Marketing Plan | City of New Rochelle
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WHA
WHATT IS NOT INCLUDED IN THE YEARLY RET
RETAINER
AINER
Deliverables: Crafted is happy to provide any of the following in a separate proposal scope
• Photography
• Video Production
• Print Production Management*
*Crafted can manage print vendor at 20% of print budget, including: communication and
coordination of city selected vendor for production and delivery of creatives (not installation).
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Scope of Core Services
IDEALLYNR MAINTENANCE, HOSTING & UPDATES

AF

WHA
WHATT IS INCLUDED IN THE YEARLY RET
RETAINER
AINER

1. Maintaining and updating existing maps, and creating new maps as needed.
2. Hosting: ensured up time, faster load times, domain validation, security, daily back-ups,
speed optimization
3. NEW! Website updates: Design and development to of new creative
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IDEALLYNR SITE MAINTENANCE

1. 5 hours of development and or server management will be included. Any additional hours
will be billed monthly at the rate of $150/hr

D

IDEALLYNR HOSTING & DELIVERY

• Site Hosting - IdeallyNR's website will be on a managed VPS SSD server with 99.99%
uptime, guaranteed.
• Plugin & Wordpress Support - Crafted will ensure all plugins and Wordpress instances are
up to date and working properly.
• Content Delivery Network - IdeallyNR's website will also be tied to the TruSpeed’s CDN
network of 27 strategically distributed global data centers ensuring faster load times for
your users, no matter where they're coming from in the world.
• SSL Certificate - The site will also be running with a validated SSL certificate to ensure
security, domain validation, Google ranking boost, and overall user trust.
• Additional Security - Crafted will provide the best protection available for your website.
Powered by the constantly updated Threat Defense Feed. Our Firewall stops you from
getting hacked. Our Live Traffic view gives you real-time visibility into traffic and hack
attempts on your website. A deep set of additional tools round out the most
comprehensive WordPress security solution available.
• Daily Backups - Crafted will Perform complete scheduled backups of all your WordPress
files, databases, plugins and themes. Ensuring a clean copy of your site if for any reason
the site goes down, gets hacked or there is a need to revert.
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• Speed Optimization - Crafted will ensure all aspects of the site are optimized to ensure
both mobile and desktop experiences are optimized to meet Google speed test
specifications.
IDEALLYNR WEBSITE UPD
UPDA
ATES
New Rochelle is known for its emerging art scene and entrepreneural growth. Crafted will amp
up the Arts Scene and Tech Scene on the Live Here and Home page of ideallynewrochelle.com
and tell the stories we capture in a compelling way from a digital standpoint.
• Updating content and creatives.

NEWROCHELLEDRI.COM MAINTENANCE & HOSTING
WHA
WHATT IS INCLUDED IN THE YEARLY RET
RETAINER
AINER
1. Maintaining and updating existing maps, and creating new maps as needed.

T

2. Hosting: ensured up time, faster load times, domain validation, security, daily back-ups,
speed optimization

AF

NEWROCHELLEDRI.COM SITE MAINTENANCE

1. 5 hours of development and or server management will be included. Any additional hours
will be billed monthly at the rate of $150/hr
NEWROCHELLEDRI.COM HOSTING & DELIVERY

R

2. Site Hosting - IdeallyNR's website will be on a managed VPS SSD server with 99.99%
uptime, guaranteed.
3. Plugin & Wordpress Support - Crafted will ensure all plugins and Wordpress instances are
up to date and working properly.

D

4. Content Delivery Network - IdeallyNR's website will also be tied to the TruSpeed’s CDN
network of 27 strategically distributed global data centers ensuring faster load times for
your users, no matter where they're coming from in the world.
5. SSL Certificate - The site will also be running with a validated SSL certificate to ensure
security, domain validation, Google ranking boost, and overall user trust.
6. Additional Security - Crafted will provide the best protection available for your website.
Powered by the constantly updated Threat Defense Feed. Our Firewall stops you from
getting hacked. Our Live Traffic view gives you real-time visibility into traffic and hack
attempts on your website. A deep set of additional tools round out the most
comprehensive WordPress security solution available.
7. Daily Backups - Crafted will Perform complete scheduled backups of all your WordPress
files, databases, plugins and themes. Ensuring a clean copy of your site if for any reason
the site goes down, gets hacked or there is a need to revert.
8. Speed Optimization - Crafted will ensure all aspects of the site are optimized to ensure
both mobile and desktop experiences are optimized to meet Google speed test
specifications.

SOCIAL NETWORK MANAGEMENT

2020 Marketing Plan | City of New Rochelle

63

5

D

R

AF

T

1. Posting and network management of Instagram + Facebook.
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Your Investment
Below is the budget we've estimated based on the scope of services outlined earlier in this
proposal. Crafted has created a custom marketing plan to address all key messages and digital
asset development as well as core support services, making it accessible, efficient and cost
effective
2020 SERVICES:
Subtotal

Made in New Rochelle Hero Video: 1x 60

$50,000

Second for social and website

Social Vignettes:

AF

1x 30 Sec cut for TV

T

New Rochelle Ideally Yours Campaign

$30,000

2x :30s Art Scene for social and website
and TV

R

2x :30s Tech Scene for social and
website and TV

D

Contest Video:

$12,500

1x :30s - :60s video for social + website
Media Budget:

$12,000

$1000/mo x 12 mos
Total
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ONGOING RETAINER:
Creative Retainer (Billed Monthly)

Creatives + Copy:

Monthly

mos

Annually

$7,800

x10

$78,000

Leverage 2020 Campaign assets for

/ year

social posts, marketing materials,
copy and PR support
*March 1st - December 31st
$78,000

T

Total

AF

CORE SERVICES:
IDEALLY NR

IDEALLY Hosting + Maintenance:

R

5hr/month

IdeallyNR Updates:

D

5hrs/month

NewRochelleDRI

Monthly

mos

Annually

$1,708

x12

$20,496

$2,083

/ year

x12

$24,996
/ year

$300

x12

Hosting + Maintenance:

$3,600
/ year

5hr/month

Social Network Management:

$1,000

x12

$12,000
/ year

Total
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Terms of payment
We’re sure you understand how important it is as a small business that you pay the invoices
that we send you promptly. We’re also sure you’ll want to maintain a positive working
relationship and keep the project moving forward, so you agree to stick tight to the following
payment schedule.

2020 CAMP
CAMPAIGN
AIGN BILLING SCHEDULE
The total budget for this project: $104,500

T

Crafted will invoice the Client for fifty per cent (50% / $52,250) upon submission of
storyboards, creatives or scripts (as applicable to the project) which will act as the deposit. The
remaining 50% ($52,250) will be billed when the project is delivered. Payments are due upon
receipt. - Net 60 days.

AF

The Client will supply Crafted with all necessary purchase order numbers and other internal
information required for invoice processing before the close of the month of work (if applicable).
RET
RETAINER
AINER + CORE SERVICES BILLING SCHEDULE

The total budget for the Ongoing Retainer: $78,000 ($7,800/month)
The total budget for Core Services: $61,092 ($5091/month)

D

INVOICES

R

Payment is due upon receipt of invoice, billed on the 1st of every month. - Net 60 days.

Payment is due upon receipt of invoice. You may not withhold any amounts due and we reserve
the right to cease work without prejudice if amounts are not paid when due.
TECHNICAL IMPLEMENT
IMPLEMENTA
ATION
Any change in concepts (copy, design or otherwise) after approval from Client to Crafted are
not within the scope of this project and may cause a change in timing or cost. The Client will
have the opportunity to review and approve the schedule and statement of work. The schedule
will include deliverables, reviews, approvals, and revisions.
The Client will sign off on the schedule in writing, and the terms of the schedule will be
contractually binding. Work done outside the terms of the schedule, including but not limited
to, extra rounds of revisions, additional creative or the like will be subject to additional fees.
Additional fees will be designated in a “scope change document” must be approved in writing
by the client prior to the commencement of work.
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REVISIONS
Included in this proposal are no more than 3 (three) rounds of Client revisions during each
phase of the Project. If more rounds are required, the client will be notified, and an estimate for
additional work will be issued detailing the change(s) and associated costs. Once the agreement
is made between Crafted and the client over a particular phase of the Project, sign-off
documentation will be created so that all parties can proceed to the next phase. That phase will
then be deemed complete and will not be revisited without additional Costs being incurred by
the client or potential changes to the Timeline.

T

GUARANTEE

CANCELLA
CANCELLATION
TION

R
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All Deliverables are guaranteed to be bug-free, in-specification as described in this SOW, and
fully functional. If there are any changes to the Deliverables required to either correct bugs or to
comply with the project description during the twenty (20) days after delivery to Client, Crafted
will make the changes at no additional cost. Any changes to the Deliverables either after this
twenty (20) day period or outside the scope of the Project will be performed at Crafted’s sole
discretion or as part of a separate maintenance SLA and will be billed incrementally at a rate
card rates.

D

RESPONSIBILITIES OF CRAFTED AND CITY OF NEW
ROCHELLE

1 CRAFTED
CRAFTED'S
'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR RELEASES
We shall obtain releases, licenses, permits or other authorization to use testimonials,
copyrighted materials, photographs, art work or any other property or rights belonging to third
parties obtained by us for use in performing services for you (If applicable).
2 CLIENT RESPONSIBILITY FOR RELEASES
You guarantee that all elements of text, images, or other artwork you provide are either owned
by your good selves, or that you have permission to use them. We’ll own the unique
combination of these elements that constitutes a complete design and we’ll license that to you,
exclusively and in perpetuity for this project only, unless we agree otherwise. We can provide a
separate estimate for that.
3 CLIENT RESPONSIBILITY FOR A
ACCURA
CCURACY
CY
You shall be responsible for the accuracy, completeness and propriety of information concerning
your products and services which you furnish to us verbally or in writing in connection with the
performance of this Agreement.
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CONFIDENTIALITY
Crafted acknowledges its responsibility, both during and after the term of its appointment, to
use all reasonable efforts to preserve the confidentiality of any proprietary or confidential
information or data developed by Crafted on behalf of City of New Rochelle or disclosed by City
of New Rochelle to Crafted.

GENERAL PROVISIONS
1 GOVERNING LA
LAW
W
This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province/
State of STATE/PROVINCE.
2 REPRESENT
REPRESENTA
ATIONS AND W
WARRANTIES
ARRANTIES

D
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The parties each individually represent and warrant that each has full power and authority to
enter into this Agreement and to perform all of their obligations hereunder without violating
the legal or equitable rights of any third party.
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Authorization
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Proposal to be effective

D
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as of the day, month and year first written above.

CRAFTED CREATIVE INC.

CITY OF NEW ROCHELLE

Greg Valvano,

Luiz Aragon

Co-Founder & Creative Director

Commissioner of Development
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Date: March 24, 2021
At a meeting of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the
"Corporation"), held at City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle, New York on the 24th
day of March 2021, the following members of the Corporation were:
Present:
Absent:
Recused:
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Also Present:

After the meeting had been duly called to order, the Chair announced that among the
purposes of the meeting was to consider and take action on certain matters pertaining to
approval of the report of the annual audit of the Corporation’s financial statements and the
authorization of the submission and distribution of the annual report in accordance with the
requirements of the Public Authorities Accountability Act of 2005.
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The following resolution was duly moved, seconded, discussed and adopted with the
following members voting:

Voting Aye

Voting Nay
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RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEW ROCHELLE
CORPORATION FOR LOCAL DEVELOPMENT
APPROVING THE ANNUAL AUDIT REPORT OF THE
CORPORATION’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUTHORIZING THE SUBMISSION AND DISTRIBUTION
OF THE ANNUAL REPORT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
PAAA

AF
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WHEREAS, the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the
"Corporation") is a local development corporation organized for the benefit of the City of New
Rochelle, New York (the "City") under §1411 of the New York Not-for-Profit Corporation
Law ("N-PCL") and a "local authority" under §2 of the New York Public Authorities Law (the
"PAL"), created to help relieve and reduce unemployment, improve and maintain job
opportunities, instruct or train individuals to increase or develop their capabilities for such jobs
for the purpose of aiding, retaining and attracting not-for-profit entities in the City and
lessening the burdens of government by acting in the public interest; and
WHEREAS, the New York State Legislature adopted the Public Authorities
Accountability Act of 2005, as amended (the "PAAA"), designed to ensure that New York’s
public authorities operate more efficiently, more openly, and with greater accountability; and

R

WHEREAS, the PAAA requires that the Corporation prepare and submit an annual
report in the form, substance and manner as prescribed in the PAAA (the "Annual Report");
and

D

WHEREAS, the Corporation has heretofore retained the certified public accounting
firm of PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP (the "Accountants") to audit the financial statements of
the Corporation for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020; and
WHEREAS, the Accountants have completed such audit and have issued their report
thereon, dated [___________] (the "Audit Report"), a copy of which is attached hereto and
made a part hereof; and
WHEREAS, to carry out the aforesaid purposes, the Corporation has the power under
the N-PCL, the PAL and the PAAA to do all things necessary to fulfill its obligations imposed
by the N-PCL, the PAL and the PAAA.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Corporation as follows:
Section 1.
fiscal year 2020.

The Corporation hereby accepts and approves the Audit Report for the
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Section 2.
The Executive Director of the Corporation is hereby authorized and
directed to submit and distribute the Annual Report in accordance with the requirements of the
Act and the PAAA.
Section 3.
The Corporation hereby authorizes and directs the Executive Director
of the Corporation to comply with all other provisions of the PAAA applicable to the Annual
Report as diligently as possible, including making such changes thereto as the Executive
Director determines to be appropriate or necessary in order to comply with the Act and/or the
PAAA.
Section 4.
The Corporation is hereby authorized to do all things necessary or
appropriate for the accomplishment of the purposes of this resolution, and all acts heretofore
taken by the Corporation with respect to such increase in the project fee are hereby approved,
ratified and confirmed.
This resolution shall take effect immediately.
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Section 5.
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[The Balance of This Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER

)
: SS.
)

I, the undersigned Secretary of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local
Development, DO HEREBY CERTIFY:
That I have compared the annexed extract of the minutes of the meeting of the City of
New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the "Corporation"), including the
resolutions contained therein, held on the 24th day of March, 2021, with the original thereof on
file in my office, and that the same is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the
Corporation and of such resolutions set forth therein and of the whole of said original insofar
as the same related to the subject matters therein referred to.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as of the ___th day of March,

By:________________________________
Secretary

D

R

2021.
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I FURTHER CERTIFY that public notice of the time and place of said meeting was
duly given to the public and the news media in accordance with the New York Open Meetings
Law, constituting Chapter 511 of the Laws of 1976 of the State of New York, as amended, that
all members of said Corporation had due notice of said meeting and that said meeting was in
all respects duly held.
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle,
New York)
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and Supplementary Information

D

R

Year Ended December 31, 2020
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
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Independent Auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors of the
City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local
Development (“CLD”), a discretely presented component unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York, as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the related notes to the financial statements which collectively
comprise the CLD’s financial statements as listed in the table of contents. The financial statements of the
CLD as of December 31, 2019, were audited by other auditors whose report dated March 19, 2020 expressed
an unmodified opinion on those statements.
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility

R

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

D

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the CLD’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the CLD’s internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the CLD, as of December 31, 2020, and the respective changes in financial position and
cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

78

Emphasis of Matter
As discussed in Note 8 in the notes to financial statements, on March 11, 2020, the World Health
Organization declared a global pandemic as a result of the spread of COVID-19 (“Coronavirus”). Our opinion
is not modified with respect to this matter.
Other Matters
As part of our audit of the 2020 financial statements, we also audited the adjustment described in Note 7 that
was applied to restate the 2019 financial statements. In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and
have been properly applied. We were not engaged to audit, review or apply any procedures to the 2019
financial statements of the CLD other than with respect to the adjustment and accordingly, we do not express
an opinion or any other assurance on the 2019 financial statements as a form of whole.
Required Supplementary Information

Supplementary Information
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Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that Management’s
Discussion and Analysis be presented to supplement the financial statements. Such information, although not
a part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the financial
statements and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the financial statements. We do not express
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
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Out audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the CLD’s financial statements. The schedule of budget with actual operating amounts is presented
for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information has
not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and,
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

D

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report March XX, 2021 on our
consideration of the CLD’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that
report is to solely describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the CLD’s internal control
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards in considering the CLD’s internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP
Harrison, New York
March XX, 2021
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CITY OF NEW ROCHELLE CORPORATION FOR LOCAL DEVELOPMENT
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2020
The following is a discussion and analysis of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local
Development (“Corporation”) financial performance for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. The
section is a summary of the Corporation’s financial activities based on currently known facts, decisions,
or conditions. This section is only an introduction and should be read in conjunction with the
Corporation’s financial statements, which immediately follow this section.
Organization
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The City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development, Corporation for Local Development (the
Corporation) created in 2013 under Sections 402 and 1411 of the New York Not-for-Profit Corporation
Law for the purposes of relieving unemployment, bettering job opportunities and attracting or retaining
business in the City of New Rochelle. The Board of Directors (“Board”) of the Corporation consist of the
members of the Board of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency and are appointed by the
City of New Rochelle. As such, the Corporation board members have complete responsibility for
management of the Agency and accountability for all fiscal matters.
The Corporation is a separate entity and operates independently from the City of New Rochelle (“City”).
However, because the City appoints its board of directors, the Corporation is financially accountable
to the City and is also included in the City's financial statements as a component unit.
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Financial Highlights

During the current year of operations, the Corporation’s net position decreased by $247,802.



Total revenues for the fiscal year 2020 were $1,437,310, an increase of $22,827 or 1.6%.



Total expenses for fiscal year 2020 were $1,685,112, a decrease of $14,728 or 0.9% from the prior
year.

D



Overview of the Financial Statements

The basic financial statements include the statement of net position, statement of revenues, expenses
and changes in net position, statement of cash flows, and notes to the financial statements. The
Corporation also includes in this report additional information to supplement the basic financial
statements.
The first of these statements is the Statement of Net Position. This is the statement of financial position
presenting information that includes all of the Corporation’s assets and liabilities, with the difference
reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful
indicator of whether the financial position of the Corporation as a whole is improving or deteriorating.
Evaluation of the overall economic health of the Corporation must include other non-financial factors
such as the economic picture of the City and the State, in addition to the financial information provided in
this report.

3
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The second statement is the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, which
reports how the Corporation’s net position changed during the current and previous fiscal period.
Revenue and expenses are included when earned or incurred, regardless of when cash is received or
paid.
The third statement is the Statement of Cash Flows, which shows the sources and uses of cash.
The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements provide information essential to a full
understanding of the financial statements.
Below is a summary of the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Net Position for the year ended December 31, 2020:
Summary of Net Position
Fiscal Year

Current assets
Noncurrent assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities

$

6,167,848
17,091,900

$

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted

$

$

Change

Change

5,397,525
(5,976,317)

700.7%
-25.9%

23,838,540

(578,792)

-2.4%

548,492
24,052,081

367,769
24,065,959

180,723
(13,878)

49.1%
-0.1%

24,600,573

24,433,728

166,845

0.7%

(1,352,742)
757,554

(746,108)
471

55.2%
0.1%

(745,637)

125.3%

(2,098,850)
758,025

D

Total net position

770,323
23,068,217

Percent

23,259,748

R

Total liabilities

2019
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2020

Dollar

(1,340,825)

$

(595,188)

$

Current and Noncurrent Liabilities increased and decreased by approximately $181 thousand and $14
thousand, respectively. This was primarily due to the recognition of $355,000 in principal as current in
2020. Net investment in capital assets decreased an additional $746,108 primarily as the result of debt
service interest payments that were partially offset by interest earnings from the limited use asset.

4
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Summary of Changes in Net Position
Fiscal Year
2020
Revenues:
Charges for services
Interest income
Rental income

$

1,001,547
57,628
378,135

Dollar
Change

2019
$

786,878
627,605
-

$

214,669
(569,977)
378,135

Percent
Change
27.3%
-90.8%
100.0%

1,437,310

1,414,483

22,827

Expenses:
Contractual
Insurance
Professional fees
Miscellaneous
Interest expense
Tactical urbanism

384,195
182
7,432
2,540
1,174,713
116,050

330,486
182
14,745
2,500
1,180,927
171,000

53,709
(7,313)
40
(6,214)
(54,950)

16.3%
0.0%
-49.6%
1.6%
-0.5%
-32.1%

Total expenses

1,685,112

1,699,840

(14,728)

-0.9%

37,555

-13.2%
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Total revenues

Change in net position

$

(247,802)

$

(285,357)

$

1.6%

Charges for services increased by $214,669 or 27.3% primarily as a result of increased application
fees received in 2020.
Interest income decreased by $569,977 or 90.8% primarily as a result of the usage of restricted cash
being used for the core and shell construction and tenant fit-out of 70 Nardozzi Place.
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Interest expense decreased by $6,214 or 0.5%. (Refer to Note 5).
Budgetary Highlights
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The Corporation adopts an annual budget and reports the results of operations on a budgetary
comparison basis.
During 2020, seven projects closed resulting in a total transaction fee of $1,000,047 to the New
Rochelle Corporation for Local Development. These projects were: BRP 10 Commerce, LLC; New
Rochelle Birch Development, LLC; CH New Rochelle, LLC; WBLM 25 Maple Owner, LLC; MJ Garden,
LLC; Georgica Green Ventures, LLC; and Lincoln Renaissance, LLC. The total transaction fee
constitutes a percentage of the total transaction fees that closed under the Uniform Joint Application and
fee schedule. In January of 2018, the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (IDA) and the New
Rochelle Corporation for Local Development adopted the Uniform Joint Application and fee schedule
authorizing a percentage of closings fees from projects approved under the Joint Application to be
allocated between the IDA and the Corporation, determined on a case by case basis.
In preparing its Budget, the Corporation attempts to estimate its revenues using realistic, but
conservative, methods so as to budget its expenditure appropriations and activities in a prudent manner.
The FY 2020 budget anticipated the completion of six transactions with estimated transaction fees of
$947,962. Pursuant to the Joint Application, seven projects closed generating transaction fees in the
amount of $1,000,047. Five additional projects are anticipated to close in 2021 with an estimated
transaction fee total of $764,906, which constitutes a 60% split of the transaction fee with the New
Rochelle Industrial Development Agency, pursuant to the adoption of the Unified Joint Application and
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fee schedule. Operating expenses were $378,401 less than the final budget offset by non-operating
expenses exceeding budget by $923,135 as a result of the $24 million bond issuance. (Refer to Note 5).
On April 18, 2018, The City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development issued bonds Series
2018 A-1 & A- 2 totaling $24,000,000. The bonds are not guaranteed by the City; however, the City is
obligated in a related sublease.
The Sublease does not constitute a general debt or liability obligation of the City, or a pledge of the
faith and credit or taxing power of the City, but shall be a special obligation expressly subject to
appropriation by the City and terminable by the City by reason of its failure or refusal to so appropriately.
The obligation of the City to make payments under the Sublease does not constitute an obligation for
which the City has levied or pledged any form of taxation.
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The City shall pay to the Issuer Base Ground Rent equal to $260,000 for the first Lease Year and for
each subsequent Lease Year, the immediate prior Sublease Base Rental Rate increased by 1.65%. In
addition, the City shall pay additional rent including, without limitation. Amounts related to applicable
CAM charges, real estate taxes, and the additional rent amounts pursuant to Section 3.1 of the
Sublease. Additional details may be found in the executed Sub-Lease.
Economic Factors

The Corporation will continue to look for funding opportunities to further its mission of promoting local
development. Each year, the Corporation will evaluate opportunities for investment of its resources in
furthering this mission.
Long-Term Liabilities

R

Long Term debt is reported as liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. Bond premiums and discounts
are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable
bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are expensed as incurred.
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Contacting Administration

This financial report is designed to provide citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a
general overview of the Corporation’s finances and to show the accountability for the money received. If
you have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact the City of New
Rochelle Corporation for Local Development’s Board at the City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle,
New York.
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2020
ASSETS
Cash and equivalents
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Restricted cash
Non-current assts
Capital assets - not being depreciated

$

17,091,900

Total Assets

23,259,748

Total Liabilities

56,870
491,622
370,000
23,682,081
24,600,573

(2,098,850)
758,025
$

(1,340,825)

D
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NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted

AF
T

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued interest payable
Non-current liabilities
Bonds payable, due within one year
Bonds payable, due in more than one year

Total Net Position

1,303,479
3,000
38
4,861,331

See notes to financial statements
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Year Ended December 31, 2020
OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services
Rental income

$

Total Operating Revenues

1,379,682

OPERATING EXPENSES
Contractual
Insurance
Professional fees
Miscellaneous

384,195
182
7,432
2,540
394,349

AF
T

Total Operating Expenses
Operating Income

1,001,547
378,135

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSE)
Interest income
Interest expense
Tactical urbanism

R

Total Non-Operating Expenses
Change in Net Position

985,333

57,628
(1,174,713)
(116,050)
(1,233,135)
(247,802)

(595,188)

Prior Period Adjustment

(497,835)

D

NET POSITION
Beginning of Year, as reported

Beginning of Year, as restated
End of Year

(1,093,023)
$ (1,340,825)

See notes to financial statements
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2020
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from charges for services
Cash payments for goods and services

$

Net Cash from Operating Activities

1,027,934

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of capital assets
Repayment of bonds payable
Tactical Urbanism Downtown
Interest paid

(12,616,900)
(368,878)
(116,050)
(1,180,926)

AF
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Net Cash from Capital and Related Financing Activities

(14,282,754)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest income

57,628

Net Change in Cash and Equivalents

End of Year

R

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of Year

D

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND EQUIVALENTS
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Cash and equivalents
Restricted cash
Total Cash and Equivalents

RECONCILIATION OF INCOME FROM OPERATIONS TO
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Income
Change in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Net Cash from Operating Activities

1,378,182
(350,248)

(13,197,192)

19,362,002
$

6,164,810

$

1,303,479
4,861,331

$

6,164,810

$

985,333
(1,500)
56,870
(12,769)

$

1,027,934

See notes to financial statements
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2020
Note 1 - Organization and Purpose
The City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development Corporation (“CLD”) is a Corporation for
Local Development created in 2013 under Sections 402 and 1411 of the New York Not-for-Profit
Corporation Law for the purposes of relieving unemployment, bettering job opportunities and attracting or
retaining business in the City of New Rochelle, New York (“City”). The Board of Directors of the
Corporation consist of the members of the Board of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency and
are appointed by the City. As such, the Corporation for Local Development Corporation members have
complete responsibility for management of the CLD and accountability for all fiscal matters. Accordingly,
the CLD, although established by the City, is a separate entity and operates independently of the City. The
CLD is exempt from Federal, State and local income taxes.
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Financial Reporting Entity

AF
T

A.

The CLD has been identified as an organization related to the City. In accordance with the criteria
enumerated in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 61, as such is
reported as discretely presented component unit of the City.
B.

Basis of Accounting

Assets, Liabilities and Net Position

D

C.

R

The accounting policies of the CLD conform to generally accepted accounting principles as
applicable to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) is the
accepted standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting
principles. The CLD reports its operations on the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual
basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time
liabilities are incurred.

Cash and Equivalents, Investments and Risk Disclosure
Cash and Equivalents - Cash and equivalents consist of funds deposited in demand
deposit accounts, time deposit accounts and short-term investments with original maturities
of less than three months from the date of acquisition.
The CLD’s deposits and investment policies are governed by State statutes.
adopted its own written investment policy which provides for the deposit of
insured commercial banks or trust companies located within the State.
authorized to use demand deposit accounts, time deposit accounts and
deposit.

The CLD has
funds in FDIC
The CLD is
certificates of

Collateral is required for demand deposit accounts, time deposit accounts and certificates
of deposit at 100% of all deposits not covered by Federal deposit insurance. The CLD has
entered into custodial agreements with the various banks which hold their deposits. These
agreements authorize the obligations that may be pledged as collateral. Such obligations
include, among other instruments, obligations of the United States and its agencies and
obligations of the State of New York and its municipal and school district subdivisions.
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2020
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Investments - Permissible investments include obligations of the U.S. Treasury, U.S.
Agencies, repurchase agreements and obligations of New York State or its political
subdivisions.
The CLD follows the provisions of GASB Statement No. 72, “Fair Value Measurements
and Application”, which defines fair value and establishes a fair value hierarchy organized
into three levels based upon the input assumptions used in pricing assets. Level 1 inputs
have the highest reliability and are related to assets with unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets. Level 2 inputs relate to assets with other than quoted prices in active
markets which may include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities or other inputs
which can be corroborated by observable market data. Level 3 inputs are unobservable
inputs and are used to the extent that observable inputs do not exist.

AF
T

Risk Disclosure
Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that the government will incur losses
in fair value caused by changing interest rates. The CLD does not have a formal
investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing its
exposure to fair value losses arising from changing interest rates. Generally, the
CLD does not invest in any long-term investment obligations.

D

R

Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank
failure, the CLD’s deposits may not be returned to it. GASB Statement No. 40,
“Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures – an amendment of GASB Statement No.
3”, directs that deposits be disclosed as exposed to custodial credit risk if they are
not covered by depository insurance and the deposits are either uncollateralized,
collateralized by securities held by the pledging financial institution or collateralized
by securities held by the pledging financial institution’s trust department but not in
the CLD’s name. The CLD’s aggregate bank balances that were not covered by
depository insurance were not exposed to custodial credit risk at December 31,
2020.
Credit Risk - Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty will not fulfill
its specific obligation even without the entity’s complete failure. The CLD does not
have a formal credit risk policy other than restrictions to obligations allowable under
General Municipal Law of the State of New York.

Concentration of Credit Risk - Concentration of credit risk is the risk attributed to
the magnitude of a government’s investments in a single issuer. The CLD’s
investment policy limits the amount on deposit at each of its banking institutions.
Capitalization and Depreciation
Capital Assets are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation is provided in amounts
sufficient to relate the cost of depreciable assets to operations over their estimated service lives
using the straight line method. Costs incurred in relation to development of the project for interest,
property taxes and insurance are capitalized only during periods in which activities necessary to
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2020
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
prepare the property for its intended use are in progress. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs
are charged to expense as incurred. Capital assets not being depreciated include construction-inprogress.
Net Position - represents the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources less
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Net position is comprised of three components:
restricted, and unrestricted.
Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation/amortization and reduced by outstanding balances of bonds and other debt that are
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.
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Restricted net position consists of restricted assets reduced by liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources related to those assets. Assets are reported as restricted when constraints are placed
on asset use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the CLD or through external
restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, or laws or regulations of other governments.
Unrestricted net position is the amount of the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources that does not meet the definition of the two preceding categories.
D.

Use of Estimates

D

R

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. Actual results could differ from those estimates, particularly given the significant
social and economic disruptions and uncertainties associated with the ongoing COVID-19
(“Coronavirus”) pandemic and the mitigation responses, and such differences may be material.
(See Note 6).
Note 3 - Transactions with the City of New Rochelle
As a component unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York, transactions occur between the CLD and
the City throughout the year in the ordinary course of operations. Below is a summary of significant
transactions:
Contract services - The City provides executive and administrative services as defined in an annual
contract agreed to between the City and the CLD. These services are billed semi-annually and totaled
$384,195 during 2020.
During 2018 the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (“CLD”) entered into a lease
agreement for a mixed use building being constructed at 70 Nardozzi Place, New Rochelle, New York.
Once the building is completed the lease will become effective. The lease is for an initial term of forty-
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2020
Note 3 - Transactions with the City of New Rochelle (Continued)
five (45) years with two ten (10) year options. The initial lease payment is for $260,000 annually with a
1.65% increase in each year the lease is in effect. In addition, the CLD has sub-let the premises to the
City of new Rochelle for the same forty-five (45) year term with 2 ten (10) year options. The lease
payment that is due the CLD shall be sufficient to cover the debt service necessary to retire the annual
principle and interest due on the 2018 A-1 and 2018 A-2 revenue bonds issued for the leasehold
improvements made by the CLD to the premises and the annual required lease payment made by the
CLD to the landlord.
Note 4 - Capital Assets

Changes in the CLD’s capital assets are as follows:

Note 5 - Long-Term Liabilities

Additions

$ 4,475,000

$ 12,616,900

AF
T

Construction-in-Progress

Balance
January 1,
2020

Balance
December 31,
2020

Deletions

$

-

$ 17,091,900

R

The following table summarizes changes in the CLD’s long-term liabilities for the year ended
December 31, 2020:

D

Balance
January 1,
2020

Revenue bonds
Revenue bonds
Unamortized premium on revenue bonds
Long-Term Liabilities

New Issues/
Additions

Maturities
and/or
Payments
and Other

Balance
December 31,
2020

Due Within
One Year

$ 3,805,000
20,195,000
420,959

$

-

$ 355,000
13,878

$

3,450,000
20,195,000
407,081

$ 370,000
-

$ 24,420,959

$

-

$ 368,878

$ 24,052,081

$ 370,000

Bonds payable are comprised of the following:

Bond Issue

Issued

Maturity

Interest Rate

Tax exempt revenue bond 2018A-1
Tax exempt revenue bond 2018A-2

4/18/2018
4/18/2018

8/1/2028
8/1/2050

4.20%
5.13%

Balance
December 31,
2020
$

3,450,000
20,195,000

$

23,645,000
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City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2020
Note 5 - Long-Term Liabilities (Continued)
The annual requirement to amortize all bonded debt outstanding as of December 31, 2020, including
interest payments of $22,906,459 are as follows:
Principal
$

370,000
390,000
405,000
420,000
440,000
2,485,000
3,165,000
4,060,000
5,215,000
6,695,000

$

1,179,894
1,164,354
1,147,974
1,130,964
1,113,324
5,269,955
4,595,588
3,696,663
2,544,306
1,063,437

AF
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2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026-2030
2031-2035
2036-2040
2041-2045
2046-2050

Interest

$ 23,645,000

$ 22,906,459

Note 6 - Conduit Debt Obligations, Revenue Bonds and Note Transactions

D

R

The CLD has issued Revenue Bonds to local non-profit organizations, which provides the organizations
the opportunity to utilize tax-exempt financing for eligible projects. These bonds are secured by the
property financed and are payable solely from payments received on the underlying mortgage loans.
Upon repayment of the bonds, ownership of the facilities transfers to the non-profit organization serviced
by the bond issuance.
Neither the CLD or the City of New Rochelle, New York is obligated in any manner for repayment of the
bonds. Accordingly, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial statements.
As of December 31, 2020, there were two series of Revenue Bonds outstanding, with an aggregate
principal amount payable of $45,128,000.
Note 7 - Prior Period Adjustment
The net position as of December 31, 2019 has been decreased by $497,835 to recognize the interest
payable on the Revenue Bonds.
Note 8 - Contingencies
Coronavirus
On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic as a result of the spread
of COVID-19 (“Coronavirus”). The pandemic has resulted in substantial economic volatility on a global
scale. Given the uncertainty around the extent and timing of the potential future spread or mitigation of
the coronavirus and around the imposition or relaxation of protective measures, management cannot
reasonably estimate the impact to future results of operations, cash flows, or financial condition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Concluded)
December 31, 2020
Note 9 - Subsequent Events Evaluation by Management
Management has evaluated subsequent events for disclosure and/or recognition in the financial statements
through the date that the financial statements were available to be issued, which date is January XX, 2021.

D

R
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*****

92

City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Schedule of Budget with Actual Operating Amounts
Year Ended December 31, 2020

Original Budget
OPERATING REVENUE
Charges for services
Rental

$

943,468
-

Final Budget
$

943,468
-

Actual
$

1,001,547
378,135

Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable)
$

58,079
378,135

Total Revenues

943,468

943,468

1,379,682

OPERATING EXPENSES
Contractual
Insurance
Professional fees
Miscellaneous

367,450
300
400,000
5,000

367,450
300
400,000
5,000

384,195
182
7,432
2,540

(16,745)
118
392,568
2,460

772,750

772,750

394,349

378,401

985,333

814,615

Operating Income

AF
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Total Operating Expenses

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSE)
Interest income
Interest expense
Tactical urbanism
Total Non-Operating Expenses

170,718

170,718

(310,000)

(310,000)

57,628
(1,174,713)
(116,050)

57,628
(1,174,713)
193,950

(310,000)

(310,000)

(1,233,135)

(923,135)

(139,282)

(139,282)

(247,802)

(108,520)

139,282

139,282

(595,188)

(734,470)

-

-

(497,835)

(497,835)

139,282

139,282

(1,093,023)

(1,232,305)

R

Deficiency of revenues over expenses

D

NET POSITION
Beginning of Year, as reported
Prior Period Adjustment

Beginning of Year, as restated
End of Year

$

436,214

-

$

-

$

(1,340,825)

$

(1,340,825)
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance
With Government Auditing Standards
Independent Auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors of the
City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development

AF
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We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the City of New
Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (“CLD”) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020,
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the CLD’s financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated January XX, 2021.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

D
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In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the CLD's internal control
over financial reporting (“internal control”) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the CLD’s internal control. Accordingly, we
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the CLD’s internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the CLD's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on
the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with
those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.
Purpose of this Report

D

R

PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP
Harrison, New York
January XX, 2021
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The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the CLD’s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the CLD’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

95

Independent Auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors of the
City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development
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We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the City of New Rochelle
Corporation for Local Development (“CLD”), a discretely presented component unit of the City of New
Rochelle, New York, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the CLD’s basic financial statements and have issued our report
thereon dated March ___, 2021, which expresses an unmodified opinion.

R

In connection with our audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the IDA failed to
comply with the CLD’s Investment Guidelines, the New York State (“NYS”) Comptroller’s Investment
Guidelines, Section 2925 of the NYS Public Authorities Law or Section 201.3 of the NYS Public Authorities
Law (collectively, the “Investment Guidelines”), insofar as they relate to accounting matters. However, our
audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance. Accordingly, had we
performed additional procedures, other matters may have come to our attention regarding the CLD’s
noncompliance with the Investment Guidelines, insofar as they relate to accounting matters.

D

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the members of the board of directors,
management of the CLD, and the Office of the New York State Comptroller and is not intended to be and
should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP
Harrison, New York
March XX, 2021
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Date: March 24, 2021
At a meeting of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the
“Corporation”), held at City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle, New York on the 24th day of
March 2021, the following members of the Corporation were:
Present:
Absent:
Recused:

AF
T

Also Present:
After the meeting had been duly called to order, the Chair announced that among the
purposes of the meeting was to consider and take action on certain matters pertaining to the
amendment of its procurement policy, the adoption of the procurement policy as amended and the
re-adoption of certain related policies of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local
Development necessary to implement the provisions of the Public Authorities Accountability Act
of 2005, as amended (the “PAAA”).

R

The following resolution was duly moved, seconded, discussed and adopted with the
following members voting:

D

Voting Aye

Voting Nay
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RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEW ROCHELLE CORPORATION FOR LOCAL
DEVELOPMENT RE-ADOPTING CERTAIN RELATED POLICIES OF THE CITY OF NEW
ROCHELLE CORPORATION FOR LOCAL DEVELOPMENT NECESSARY TO
IMPLEMENT THE PROVISIONS OF THE PAAA
WHEREAS, the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the
“Corporation”) is a local development corporation organized for the benefit of the City of New
Rochelle, New York (the “City”) under §1411 of the New York Not-for-Profit Corporation Law
(“N-PCL”) and a “local authority” under §2 of the New York Public Authorities Law (the “PAL”),
created to help relieve and reduce unemployment, improve and maintain job opportunities, instruct
or train individuals to increase or develop their capabilities for such jobs for the purpose of aiding,
retaining and attracting not-for-profit entities in the City and lessening the burdens of government
by acting in the public interest; and
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WHEREAS, the New York State Legislature adopted the Public Authorities
Accountability Act of 2005, as amended (the “PAAA”), designed to ensure that New York’s public
authorities operate more efficiently, more openly, and with greater accountability; and

R

WHEREAS, the PAAA requires that the Corporation adopt or re-adopt, as the case may
be, policies to comply with the provisions of the PAAA including: a Procurement Policy (the
“Procurement Policy”); a Whistleblower Protection Policy (the “Whistleblower Protection
Policy”); a Property Disposition Policy (the “Property Disposition Policy”); an Investment Policy
(the “Investment Policy”); a Code of Ethics (the “Code of Ethics”); a Real Property Acquisition
Policy (the “Real Property Acquisition Policy”); a Defense and Indemnification Policy (the
“Defense and Indemnification Policy”); a Travel and Discretionary Funds Policy (the “Travel and
Discretionary Funds Policy”); and a Compensation, Reimbursement and Attendance Policy (the
“Compensation, Reimbursement and Attendance Policy” and all of the foregoing policies are
collectively referred to herein as the “Related Policies”); and

D

WHEREAS, the Corporation duly adopted its Related Policies at its meeting on March 29,
2017 and amended the Procurement Policy at its meeting on March 28, 2018; and
WHEREAS, the PAAA requires that the Corporation adopt and/or readopt its Related
Policies annually; and
WHEREAS, to carry out the aforesaid purposes, the Corporation has the power under the
N-PCL and the PAL to do all things necessary to fulfill its obligations imposed by the N-PCL, the
PAL and the PAAA.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Corporation as follows:
Section 1.

The Corporation hereby finds and determines:

(a)
By virtue of the N-PCL and the PAL, the Corporation has been vested with all
powers necessary and convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the NPCL and the PAL Act and to exercise all powers granted to it under the N-PCL and the PAL;
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(b)
Re-adopting the Related Policies will allow the Corporation to continue to operate
in compliance with the N-PCL and the PAL and in compliance with the PAAA, and cause the
Corporation to operate more efficiently, openly and with greater accountability to the residents of
the City of New Rochelle
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T

Section 2.
In consequence of the foregoing, the Corporation hereby determines to readopt (i) the Procurement Policy, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A and made a part
hereof; (ii) the Whistleblower Protection Policy, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B
and made a part hereof; (iii) the Property Disposition Policy, a copy of which is attached hereto as
Exhibit C and made a part hereof; (iv) the Investment Policy, a copy of which is attached hereto
as Exhibit D and made a part hereof; (v) the Code of Ethics, a copy of which is attached hereto as
Exhibit E and made a part hereof; (vi) the Real Property Acquisition Policy, a copy of which is
attached hereto as Exhibit F and made a part hereof, (vii) the Defense and Indemnification Policy,
a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit G and made a part hereof, (viii) the Travel and
Discretionary Funds Policy, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit H and made a part hereof;
and (ix) the Compensation, Reimbursement and Attendance Policy, a copy of which is attached
hereto as Exhibit I and made a part hereof.
Section 3.
The Corporation is hereby authorized to do all things necessary or
appropriate for the accomplishment of the purposes of this resolution, and all acts heretofore taken
by the Corporation with respect to such activities are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed.
Section 4.

This resolution shall take effect immediately.
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[The Balance of This Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER

)
: SS.
)

I, the undersigned Secretary of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local
Development, DO HEREBY CERTIFY:
That I have compared the annexed extract of the minutes of the meeting of the City of New
Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the “Corporation”), including the resolutions
contained therein, held on the 24th day of March 2021, with the original thereof on file in my office,
and that the same is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Corporation and of such
resolutions set forth therein and of the whole of said original insofar as the same related to the
subject matters therein referred to.
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I FURTHER CERTIFY, that all members of said Corporation had due notice of said
meeting, that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the Public
Officers Law (“Open Meetings Law”) and pursuant to Governor Andrew Cuomo’s Executive
Orders (the “Executive Orders”) authorizing the conduct of public meetings under the Open
Meetings Law through use of telephone conference, video conference and/or other similar service,
said meeting was open to the general public in accordance with the requirements of the Executive
Orders, and that public notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly given in accordance
with such Article 7.

R

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that there was a quorum of the members of the Corporation
present throughout said meeting.

D

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that as of the date hereof, the attached resolutions are in full force
and effect and have not been amended, repealed or modified.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of said
Corporation this _______ day of March 2021.
By:________________________________
Secretary
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Date: March 24, 2021
At a meeting of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the
"Corporation"), held at City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle, New York on the 24th day of
March 2021, the following members of the Corporation were:
Present:

Absent:

Recused:

AF
T

Also Present:
After the meeting had been duly called to order, the Chair announced that among the
purposes of the meeting was to consider and take action on certain matters pertaining to the
appointment of officers of the Corporation.
The following resolution was duly moved, seconded, discussed and adopted with the following
members voting:
Voting Nay

D

R

Voting Aye
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RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEW ROCHELLE
CORPORATION FOR LOCAL DEVELOPMENT
REGARDING THE APPOINTMENT OF OFFICERS
WHEREAS, the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the
"Corporation") is a local development corporation organized for the benefit of the City of New
Rochelle, New York (the "City") under §1411 of the New York Not-for-Profit Corporation Law
("N-PCL") and a "local authority" under §2 of the New York Public Authorities Law (the "PAL"),
created to help relieve and reduce unemployment, improve and maintain job opportunities, instruct
or train individuals to increase or develop their capabilities for such jobs for the purpose of aiding,
retaining and attracting not-for-profit entities in the City and lessening the burdens of government
by acting in the public interest; and

AF
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WHEREAS, Article IV of the By-Laws of the Corporation provides that the Officers of
the Corporation’s Board shall be a Chair, one (1) or more Vice Chairs, a Treasurer, a Secretary,
and/or such other officers as the Board shall in its discretion determine, including an Assistant
Secretary and an Assistant Treasurer, to be elected annually by the Board at the Corporation’s
Annual Meeting; and
WHEREAS, in accordance with the foregoing, the Corporation has determined to appoint
the Members hereinafter set forth as Officers of the Board of Corporation.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Corporation as follows:

R

Section 1.
Pursuant to Article IV of the By-Laws of the Corporation, the Corporation
hereby elects and appoints CHARLES B. STROME III, as Chair of the Corporation, whose
responsibilities shall be as set forth in Section 7 of Article IV of the By-Laws.

D

Section 2.
Pursuant to Article IV of the By-Laws of the Corporation, the Corporation
hereby elects and appoints IVAR HYDEN, as Vice Chair of the Corporation, whose
responsibilities shall be as set forth in Section 8 of Article IV of the By-Laws.
Section 3.
Pursuant to Article IV of the By-Laws of the Corporation, the Corporation
hereby elects and appoints ROBERT BALACHANDRAN, as Treasurer of the Corporation, whose
responsibilities shall be as set forth in Section 9 of Article IV of the By-Laws.
Section 4.
Pursuant to Article IV of the By-Laws of the Corporation, the Corporation
hereby elects and appoints HOWARD GREENBERG, as Secretary of the Corporation, whose
responsibilities shall be as set forth in the Section 11 of Article IV of the By-Laws.
Section 5.
Pursuant to Article IV of the By-Laws of the Corporation, the Corporation
hereby confirms and appoints KATHLEEN GILL, as Assistant Secretary of the Corporation,
whose responsibilities shall be as set forth in the Section 12 of Article IV of the By-Laws.
Section 6.
The foregoing Board Officers shall serve until the next Annual Meeting of
the Corporation and until the election and qualification of their respective successors.
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Section 7.
Pursuant to Article VI of the By-Laws of the Corporation, the Corporation
hereby elects and appoints the Deputy Commissioner of Economic Development of the City of
New Rochelle as Executive Director of the Corporation, whose responsibilities shall be as set forth
in the Section 2 of Article VI of the By-Laws. The Executive Director shall serve until the next
Annual Meeting and at no compensation. All acts heretofore taken by the Executive Director with
respect to such responsibilities as set forth in the By-Laws are hereby approved, ratified and
confirmed.
Section 8.
Pursuant to Article VI of the By-Laws of the Corporation, the Corporation
hereby elects and appoints the Commissioner of Finance of the City of New Rochelle as
Comptroller of the Corporation, whose responsibilities shall be as set forth in the Section 4 of
Article VI of the By-Laws. The Comptroller shall serve until the next Annual Meeting and at no
compensation. All acts heretofore taken by the Comptroller with respect to such responsibilities as
set forth in the By-Laws are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed.
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Section 9.
Pursuant to Article VI of the By-Laws of the Corporation, the Corporation
hereby elects and appoints the Executive Director of the Corporation as Compliance Officer of the
Corporation, whose responsibilities shall be as set forth in the Section 5 of Article VI of the ByLaws. The Compliance Officer shall serve until the next Annual Meeting and at no compensation.
All acts heretofore taken by the Compliance Officer with respect to such responsibilities as set
forth in the By-Laws are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed.
Section 10. The Corporation is hereby authorized to do all things necessary or
appropriate for the accomplishment of the purposes of this resolution, and all acts heretofore taken
by the Corporation with respect to such activities are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed.

R

This resolution shall take effect immediately.

[The Balance of This Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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Section 11.
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER

)
: SS.
)

I, the undersigned Secretary of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local
Development, DO HEREBY CERTIFY:
That I have compared the annexed extract of the minutes of the meeting of the City of New
Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the "Corporation"), including the resolutions
contained therein, held on the 24th day of March, 2021, with the original thereof on file in my
office, and that the same is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Corporation and of
such resolutions set forth therein and of the whole of said original insofar as the same related to
the subject matters therein referred to.
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I FURTHER CERTIFY, that all members of said Corporation had due notice of said
meeting, that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the Public
Officers Law ("Open Meetings Law") and pursuant to Governor Andrew Cuomo’s Executive
Orders (the "Executive Orders") authorizing the conduct of public meetings under the Open
Meetings Law through use of telephone conference, video conference and/or other similar service,
said meeting was open to the general public in accordance with the requirements of the Executive
Orders, and that public notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly given in accordance
with such Article 7.
I FURTHER CERTIFY, that there was a quorum of the members of the Corporation
present throughout said meeting.

R

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that as of the date hereof, the attached resolutions are in full force
and effect and have not been amended, repealed or modified.

D

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of said
Corporation this ____ day of March, 2021.

By:________________________________
Secretary
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Date: March 24, 2021
At a meeting of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the
"Corporation"), held at City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle, New York on the 24th day
of March, 2021, the following members of the Corporation were:
Present:
Absent:
Recused:

AF
T

Also Present:
After the meeting had been duly called to order, the Chair announced that among the
purposes of the meeting was to consider and take action on certain matters pertaining to the
appointment of members of the Audit Committee, the Finance Committee and the Governance
Committee of the Corporation.

R

The following resolution was duly moved, seconded, discussed and adopted with the
following members voting:
Voting Nay

D

Voting Aye
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RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEW ROCHELLE CORPORATION FOR LOCAL
DEVELOPMENT REGARDING THE APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE, THE FINANCE COMMITTEE AND THE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
WHEREAS, the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the
"Corporation") is a local development corporation organized for the benefit of the City of New
Rochelle, New York (the "City") under §1411 of the New York Not-for-Profit Corporation Law
("N-PCL") and a "local authority" under §2 of the New York Public Authorities Law (the
"PAL"), created to help relieve and reduce unemployment, improve and maintain job
opportunities, instruct or train individuals to increase or develop their capabilities for such jobs
for the purpose of aiding, retaining and attracting not-for-profit entities in the City and lessening
the burdens of government by acting in the public interest; and
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WHEREAS, the New York State Legislature adopted the Public Authorities
Accountability Act of 2005, as amended (the "PAAA"), designed to ensure that New York’s
public authorities operate more efficiently, more openly, and with greater accountability; and
WHEREAS, the PAAA requires that the Corporation create an Audit Committee, a
Finance Committee and a Governance Committee; and
WHEREAS, Article V of the By-Laws of the Corporation provides that the Corporation
shall have an Audit Committee, a Governance Committee, and such other Committees as the
Board shall determine to be necessary and desirable, including a Finance Committee, to be
elected annually by the Board at the Corporation Annual Meeting; and

D
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WHEREAS, in accordance with the foregoing, and in order to fully comply with the
provisions of the PAAA, the Corporation has determined to appoint the Members hereinafter set
forth as members of the Audit Committee, the Governance Committee and the Finance
Committee of Corporation.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Corporation as follows:
Section 1.

The Corporation hereby finds and determines:

(a)
By virtue of the Act, the Corporation has been vested with all powers necessary
and convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the Act and to exercise
all powers granted to it under the Act; and
(b)
Designating and appointing the members of the Audit Committee, the Finance
Committee and the Governance Committee will allow the Corporation to continue to operate in
compliance with the Act and the provisions of the PAAA, and cause the Corporation to operate
more efficiently, openly and with greater accountability to the residents of the City.
Section 2.
In consequence of the foregoing, the Corporation hereby determines to
designate and appoint Charles B. Strome, III, Ivar Hyden, Howard Greenberg, Jordanna Davis
Felim O’Malley and Amy Moselhi, as members of the Audit Committee, except the Treasurer.
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Section 3.
In consequence of the foregoing, the Corporation hereby determines to
designate and appoint Charles B. Strome, III, Ivar Hyden, Howard Greenberg, Jordanna Davis
Felim O’Malley, Amy Moselhi and Robert Balachandran, as members of the Finance
Committee.
Section 4.
In consequence of the foregoing, the Corporation hereby determines to
designate and appoint Charles B. Strome, III, Ivar Hyden, Howard Greenberg, Jordanna Davis
Felim O’Malley, Amy Moselhi and Robert Balachandran as members of the Governance
Committee.
Section 5.
The Corporation is hereby authorized to do all things necessary or
appropriate for the accomplishment of the purposes of this resolution, and all acts heretofore
taken by the Corporation with respect to such activities are hereby approved, ratified and
confirmed.
This resolution shall take effect immediately.
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Section 6.
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER

)
: SS.
)

I, the undersigned Secretary of the City of New Rochelle Corporation for Local
Development, DO HEREBY CERTIFY:
That I have compared the annexed extract of the minutes of the meeting of the City of
New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development (the "Corporation"), including the resolutions
contained therein, held on the 24th day of March 2021, with the original thereof on file in my
office, and that the same is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Corporation and of
such resolutions set forth therein and of the whole of said original insofar as the same related to
the subject matters therein referred to.
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I FURTHER CERTIFY, that all members of said Corporation had due notice of said
meeting, that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the
Public Officers Law ("Open Meetings Law") and pursuant to Governor Andrew Cuomo’s
Executive Orders (the "Executive Orders") authorizing the conduct of public meetings under the
Open Meetings Law through use of telephone conference, video conference and/or other similar
service, said meeting was open to the general public in accordance with the requirements of the
Executive Orders, and that public notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly given in
accordance with such Article 7.
I FURTHER CERTIFY, that there was a quorum of the members of the Corporation
present throughout said meeting.

R

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that as of the date hereof, the attached resolutions are in full
force and effect and have not been amended, repealed or modified.

D

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of said
Corporation this ____ day of March, 2021.
By:________________________________
Secretary
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